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Part I  

Item 1. Business  

General  

Kopin Corporation ("the Company") is engaged in the development, manufacture and sale of flat panel display devices and products and 
custom Wafer-Engineered gallium arsenide ("GaAs") materials for commercial and consumer markets based primarily on the Company's 
proprietary Wafer-Engineering technology. Wafer- engineering is the process of splicing or layering selected dissimilar materials, combining 
the desired properties of each, to provide optimal performance for specific applications. This core technology has enabled the Company to 
commercialize its wafer-engineered materials business and to develop and make initial sales of the SMART SLIDE/TM/ imaging device, an 
active matrix liquid crystal display (AMLCD) electronic imaging device which the Company believes has performance characteristics superior 
to commercially available high-definition cathode ray tube (CRT) and liquid crystal display (LCD) devices.  

The Company manufactures and sells custom wafer-engineered electronic materials, primarily epitaxial gallium arsenide for use primarily in 
advanced wireless telecommunication applications. In addition, the Company performs research and development, primarily under contracts 
with agencies of the United States Government. These contracts help support the advancement of the Company's proprietary core technology. 
The Company's policy is to retain its proprietary rights with respect to the principal commercial applications of its technology.  

The Company has focused its flat panel display activities on the development of very small format (.7 inch or less diagonal) SMART SLIDE 
imaging devices. The Company believes its ultra-small imaging devices are appropriate for personal, portable communication system and 
component applications.  

The Company was incorporated in 1984 to further develop and commercialize certain wafer-engineering technology developed at 
Massachusetts Institute of Technology ("MIT") by a team of scientists including Dr. John C.C. Fan, the Chief Executive Officer and a founder 
of the Company. In 1985, the Company obtained a license to certain MIT wafer-engineering and related technology to make, have made, use 
and sell products for the life of the patents. This license now covers 31 issued United States patents, 6 pending United States patent applications 
and some foreign counterparts to these United States patents and applications, and is exclusive with respect to commercial applications until 
April 22, 1999. In addition, the Company owns 68 United States issued patents, 48 pending United States patent applications and some foreign 
counterparts to these patents and applications.  

Industry Background  

Flat Panel Displays  

There is presently a large market for electronic displays with improved resolution and brightness, greater reliability and flat screens which 
minimize perimeter distortion. In particular, displays with high image quality, smaller dimensions and lower weight are desired for use in 
personal communication devices such as cellular phones and pagers, as well as computer workstations, high-end personal computers, 
computer-driven projectors, and head-mounted display systems. Current CRT-based display products have been unable to attain the desired 
performance in very large formats without also introducing excessive weight and size, as well as relatively high cost. In small-format systems, 
the CRT has been costly and difficult to miniaturize, in contrast to the well known accomplishments in semiconductor miniaturization in many 
other areas of the computer industry.  

Due to these inherent CRT limitations, the display industry continues to pursue means of creating a flat-screen, light-weight, cost effective 
replacement of the CRT. The technology that has received the greatest attention is based on the LCD, which is now in widespread use in laptop 
computers, watches, calculators, and other electronic display products requiring  
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light-weight, black and white or color solid state displays. These displays form an image by either transmitting or blocking light from a light 
source behind the  
LCD. Over the past decade, research and development has been carried out to make LCDs higher in resolution, full color, faster (to display 
video images without blur) and show a wider range of shades of grey. LCD products with improvements in these areas have been introduced in 
the last several years by companies with which the Company competes.  

It is widely recognized in the LCD industry that the use of an integrated circuit can improve the resolution, speed and grey scale of the LCD. 
For typical computer applications, integrated circuits are formed on high quality silicon wafers, which are thick and opaque, using well-
established high-yield manufacturing techniques. The integrated circuit used in the transmissive LCD, however, should be nearly transparent to 
allow light to pass through. Consequently, the display circuit cannot ultimately reside on a conventional silicon wafer. Instead, a thin film of 
silicon must be placed on glass or similar transparent material. For this reason, considerable research and development efforts have been carried 
out in the United States, Japan and elsewhere first to grow thin films of silicon on glass and afterwards to process this material into an 
integrated circuit for use in advanced LCDs. This is known as silicon-grown-on-glass or thin film transistor ("TFT") technology.  

In Asia, a multi-billion dollar investment of capital has been made by several companies to construct facilities dedicated to silicon-grown-on-
glass processing (dedicated facilities are required because standard silicon integrated circuit manufacturers cannot process silicon-grown-on-
glass). To date, the quality of the silicon material grown on glass cannot yield the performance that is obtained when high quality silicon wafers 
are used for the integrated circuit. Currently, LCD-based displays have gained acceptance in systems like lap-top computers, portable 
projectors and pocket-size televisions where low weight and power consumption are more important than resolution, speed or grey scale.  

Wafer-Engineered Materials  

Market demands for higher levels of performance in electronic systems have produced an increasing number of varied, complex applications. 
The increased capabilities and requirements of these new systems create new markets and a further expansion of new, sophisticated 
applications. Many of these new applications have emerged in the wireless communications and telecommunications industries.  

The wireless communications industry is experiencing rapid growth with the advent of new applications such as digital cellular telephones, 
personal communication systems ("PCS"), satellite communications, wireless local area networks, wireless data transmission systems and 
wireless cable television. In addition, many of these new applications require efficient use of battery power to enhance portability. The 
proliferation of some of these new applications has led to increased communication traffic resulting in congestion of the historically assigned 
frequency bands. As a consequence, wireless communications are moving to higher, less congested frequency bands. In recognition of the 
potential for such applications, United States government regulatory agencies have auctioned licenses for a new spectrum of radio frequencies 
above 1.8 GHz, or approximately twice the frequency of previously existing cellular networks. These licenses will be used as the United States 
PCS is deployed. The Company believes the increasing demand for wireless communications at higher frequencies may lead to entirely new 
high volume applications for its products.  

To address the market demands for higher performance, electronic system manufacturers have relied heavily on advances in semiconductor 
technology. In recent years, the predominant semiconductor technologies used in advanced electronic systems have been silicon-based 
complementary metal oxide semiconductor ("CMOS"), bipolar complementary metal oxide semiconductor ("BiCMOS") and emitter coupled 
logic ("ECL") process technologies.  

However, GaAs semiconductor technology has emerged as an effective alternative or complement to silicon in many high performance 
applications. GaAs has inherent physical properties which allow its electrons to move up to five times faster than those of silicon. This higher 
electron mobility permits the manufacture of GaAs integrated circuits which operate at much higher speeds than silicon devices, or operate at 
the same speeds with lower power consumption. In many new applications, GaAs integrated circuits enable high performance systems to 
process data more quickly, increasing system operating rates. In addition, the use of GaAs integrated circuits can reduce system power 
requirements, which is particularly important in battery powered portable applications. The high performance characteristics of GaAs, 
combined with the system requirements of the communications industry, have led to the first use of GaAs components in high volumes to 
complement silicon devices in a wide range of commercial systems.  
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The Company believes that the continuation and acceleration of these trends will result in increasing demand for GaAs integrated circuits, 
thereby creating substantial opportunities for the Company's wafer-engineered GaAs materials.  

The Kopin Approach  

Flat Panel Displays  

In contrast to others in the AMLCD industry, the Company is able to transfer high quality, single crystal, thin film silicon integrated circuits to 
glass utilizing its proprietary and patented wafer-engineering technology. This capability has enabled development of the SMART SLIDE, a 
new class of high-speed electronic imaging device. The SMART SLIDE imaging device includes a thin film integrated circuit and liquid 
crystal, enclosed between two glass panels. As light is projected through a SMART SLIDE imaging device, it is filtered to transform white 
light into a color image, like a photographic slide, except that the SMART SLIDE is computer controlled to display video, data and graphic 
images.  

The Company has manufactured in limited commercial quantities active matrix liquid crystal display ("AMLCD") SMART SLIDE imaging 
devices formed using the Company's single crystal thin film silicon wafer-engineering technology. An important advantage of its wafer-
engineering technology is that high speed signal processing and control logic can be integrated directly into the SMART SLIDE imaging 
device, leading to the development of display products with higher resolution, greater system speed, lower weight, less volume and simplified 
manufacturing. These SMART SLIDE imaging devices may also provide further cost advantages through the ability to use relatively standard 
small-format optical components.  

The Company believes that particularly for certain applications requiring extremely small format, high resolution and speed, its SMART 
SLIDE imaging device will serve as an alternative to commercially available CRT and LCD-based imaging devices. Although LCDs are 
replacing certain CRT applications, commercially available LCDs are limited in speed and resolution and are relatively costly, since they are 
typically fabricated on specially designed capital intensive manufacturing equipment. Integral to the Company's proprietary approach is the 
ability to prepare thin film silicon integrated circuits using existing manufacturing facilities. Since integrated circuit manufacturing capacity is 
in place at multiple sites, the Company believes this approach significantly reduces the substantial capital investment, significant process 
development costs and long lead times typically needed for the establishment of advanced LCD manufacturing capabilities.  

Wafer-Engineered Materials  

Over the past several years, the Company has developed process technology enabling the production of high quality Heterojunction Bipolar 
Transistor ("HBT") gallium arsenide materials. The focus of this effort was development of a reproducible HBT production process that would 
enable volume production of high performance HBT devices and circuits, based primarily on the Company's proprietary carbon doping growth 
process. The Company's stable, highly reproducible carbon doped HBT material is presently designed into a majority of the HBT circuit 
programs of the Company's customers. The Company continues to work closely with customers and potential customers on design and 
development of customized HBT material structures.  

Current Business and Development Strategy  

The Company's product development strategy for high resolution displays is to continue developing smaller format and higher resolution 
SMART SLIDE imaging devices as well as advanced display products such as head-mounted display systems and personal, portable 
communication systems. SMART SLIDE imaging device development and fabrication is being conducted by the Company in collaboration 
with a number of domestic and foreign companies and research laboratories. The Company has demonstrated the operation of high resolution 
AMLCDs with integrated scanning and drive electronics fabricated using the Company's proprietary wafer engineering technology combined 
with standard silicon wafer processing and LCD assembly, and since 1995 has had limited production and sale of these devices and products 
based upon these devices.  

The Company has focused its flat panel display development efforts on very small format active matrix SMART SLIDE imaging devices. In 
1994, the Company demonstrated a .7 inch diagonal 640 by 480 (VGA)SMART SLIDE with more than 300,000 pixels and a resolution of 
1,100 lines per inch. This SMART SLIDE, in a chip size of approximately one-half inch  
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by one-half inch, was developed in conjunction with MIT-Lincoln Laboratory. Also in 1994, the Company achieved the development of 
SMART SLIDE imaging devices capable of displaying full color video or computer images. Using a proprietary color filter process developed 
by the Company for high-resolution displays, these .7 inch diagonal SMART SLIDE imaging devices contain more than 300,000 pixels. In 
1996, the Company demonstrated higher resolution SMART SLIDE imaging devices including a 800 x 600 display and a 1280 by 1024 
display. The Company is continuing research and development and manufacturing process development efforts on these SMART SLIDE 
imaging devices, as well as smaller and higher resolution devices under government and internally funded development programs.  

The Company is also developing an ultra-small, high density SMART SLIDE imaging device called CyberDisplay. The Company believes the 
extremely small size of the CyberDisplay (1/4" diagonal) and high image quality make them suitable for personal communication devices, 
pagers, cellular phones and their derivatives, where there is a need for enhanced functionality, particularly to display more information while 
retaining the pocket-sized packaging of these products. The Company intends to form business alliances and collaborations to accelerate the 
use of CyberDisplay devices in personal, portable communication systems and products, and has identified the rapidly growing wireless 
communications markets and the companies providing portable communication devices as business and collaboration opportunities.  

The Company has formed business alliances and collaborations to advance its business strategy. In October 1995, the Company entered into a 
strategic alliance with Telecom Holding Co., Ltd., an affiliate of CP Group, which made an equity investment in the Company of $27.1 million 
by privately purchasing 1,643,716 shares of Kopin common stock at $16.50 per share. In December 1995, the Company entered into a foundry 
relationship with United Microelectronics Corporation ("UMC"), under which UMC and its affiliate, Unipac Optoelectronics Corporation 
("Unipac"), also made an equity investment in the Company of $3.7 million by privately purchasing 225,000 shares of Kopin common stock at 
$16.50 per share. In August 1994, the Company entered into agreements with two divisions of Philips Electronics North America Corporation 
("Philips") to develop advanced projection system products based on Kopin and Philips technology, as well as license certain Philips 
technology. In May 1994, the Company received a $10.6 million thirty-month contract from Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency 
("DARPA") to develop high resolution SMART SLIDE imaging devices for head-mounted military applications.  

The Company has entered into strategic foundry agreements with two integrated circuit companies, UMC and GMT Microelectronics 
Corporation ("GMT"), to expand its integrated circuit fabrication capability. During 1996, GMT, a domestic integrated circuit foundry, 
provided IC fabrication for the Company's SMART SLIDE imaging device. The Company's strategic foundry relationship with UMC, a leader 
in the design and manufacture of integrated circuits based in Taiwan, was entered into with the objective of establishing capability for volume 
production and market penetration of the Company's SMART SLIDE imaging device. In addition, the Company has a Cooperative Research 
and Development Agreement with MIT Lincoln Laboratory for advanced development and fabrication of SMART SLIDE imaging devices and 
related integrated circuits.  

The Company is concurrently engaged in the design and development of head- mounted display systems. The Company's product strategy for 
head-mounted displays is directed at the development of system products for commercial and consumer applications. The Company has 
developed SMART SLIDE imaging devices for initial head-mounted display systems for industrial, personal computing and communication, 
and training and simulation applications. SMART SLIDE imaging devices for advanced, high resolution, head-mounted systems are also being 
developed by the Company, as prime contractor to DARPA.  

The development strategy for the Company's wafer-engineered materials business is based on expanding its penetration of the high growth 
markets of the wireless communication industry by teaming with its customers and offering them a broad range of solutions through its wafer-
engineered HBT materials. Additionally, the Company continues to expand and improve its manufacturing capability and infrastructure for 
wafer-engineered materials.  

The Company manufactures and sells its wafer-engineered gallium arsenide materials to customers including Rockwell, Northrup Grumman, 
Raytheon and Fuji Electric for use primarily in advanced wireless telecommunication applications. The Company's custom wafer-engineered 
materials include gallium arsenide spliced with or layered on other related materials. The Company sells its custom wafer- engineered materials 
directly in the United States and through sales representatives abroad. The raw materials used for the Company's current products are generally 
available from multiple sources within the United States and abroad.  
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In addition, the Company collaborates or performs research and development, primarily under contracts with agencies of the United States 
Government. These contracts help support the advancement of the Company's proprietary core technology. These agreements are subject to 
termination at the election of the relevant agency.  

Forte Technologies, Inc.  

From October 1994 through January 1996, the Company made a series of equity investments in and loans to Forte Technologies, Inc., a 
developer of virtual reality head-mounted systems and peripherals for the personal computer and entertainment markets, and currently owns 
approximately 60% of the equity of Forte. Forte has marketed and sold its virtual reality system product, the VFX1 HEADGEAR Virtual 
Reality System, since May 1995 for use with personal computer games. As a result of declining sales and results of operations at Forte, the 
Company recorded a write-down of the value of Forte's assets and its investment in Forte at December 31, 1996 totaling $3,900,000, and is 
evaluating its strategic options regarding its investment. In March 1997, Forte filed a voluntary petition seeking protection from its creditors 
under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code. The Company does not believe this will have a material adverse effect on its financial 
condition or results of operation.  

Products and Product Applications  

The Company's product strategy is to develop and produce advanced wafer- engineered gallium arsenide materials for wireless 
telecommunication and electronics applications and small format flat panel displays for use in personal, portable communication systems as 
well as other business and personal applications.  

SMART SLIDE Imaging Device  

The Company's SMART SLIDE imaging device is a small format active matrix liquid crystal display device which the Company believes has 
performance features superior to other commercially available liquid crystal display devices. These imaging devices are based on the 
Company's Wafer-Engineering technology, in which single crystal thin film silicon integrated circuits are transferred to glass enabling 
production of high resolution displays. The key benefits of this approach to the manufacture of AMLCDs are: 1) reduced AMLCD and display 
system cost, 2) rapid market entry utilizing existing integrated circuit manufacturing facilities, 3) high resolution active matrix pixel array in a 
small format display (.7 inch or less diagonal), 4) high speed circuit operation which provides for simple system interconnect, and 5) integrated 
drive circuits which eliminate the need for more complex interconnect.  

CyberDisplay  

The Company is also developing an ultra-small, high density SMART SLIDE imaging device called CyberDisplay. The Company believes the 
extremely small size of the CyberDisplay (1/4 inch diagonal) and high image quality make them suitable for personal communication devices, 
pagers, cellular phones and their derivatives, where there is a need for enhanced functionality, particularly to display more information while 
retaining the pocket-sized packaging of these products.  

The Company plans to sell CyberDisplay devices to original equipment manufacturers ("OEMs") whose products need a low cost display with 
high information content capability. The Company believes the ultra-small form factor, light weight, low power consumption and low cost of 
the CyberDisplay make possible innovative products that cannot be achieved with other display technologies.  

The CyberDisplay device is a virtual display. Although the display itself is miniature in size, when viewed through a tiny acrylic lens the image 
is equivalent to viewing a 20 inch diagonal screen from a distance of five feet. This virtual display capability allows OEMs to build small 
products that use CyberDisplay while at the same time providing easy viewing of high information content images. The display can be held 
three inches or more from the eye and comfortably viewed with both eyes open.  
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Wafer-Engineered Materials  

The Company develops and manufactures application specific epitaxial wafer materials for advanced semiconductor circuit applications. These 
advanced structures are manufactured using metalorganic chemical vapor deposition (MOCVD) semiconductor growth techniques. The 
Company believes it is one of the world's leading suppliers of carbon doped Heterojunction Bipolar Transistor (HBT) wafer materials and 
supports volume production of 3 inch, 4 inch and 6 inch wafers.  

The HBT, unlike competing gallium arsenide devices, is a vertical device. This feature enables the Company's customers, which design and 
fabricate integrated circuits to design ultra-small circuits that can be manufactured at costs that are highly competitive with gallium arsenide ion 
implant MESFET circuits and silicon solutions. In addition, HBT circuits run a single power supply voltage and have excellent signal linearity 
and power added efficiency; which enables wireless handset designers to eliminate certain costly components and use smaller, less bulky 
batteries.  

The Company believes the overall market opportunities for gallium arsenide HBT materials will continue to expand. HBT circuits based on the 
Company's gallium arsenide materials have been inserted into a growing number of digital cellular handsets. The Company believes HBT 
circuits are being designed into fiber optic transmitter circuits, wide band amplifiers that will double the frequency capability of certain cable 
television systems, and new applications such as RF-ID (systems that enable the remote identification of a moving object).  

A substantial portion of the Company's wafer-engineered materials products are designed to address the needs of individual customers. 
Frequent product introductions by its customers make the Company's future success dependent on its ability to select customer-specific 
development projects which will result in sufficient production volume to enable the Company to achieve manufacturing efficiencies. Because 
customer-specific products are developed for specific applications, the Company expects that some of its current and future customer- specific 
products may never be produced in high volume.  

Head-Mounted Display Products  

The Company believes its SMART SLIDE imaging devices will be useful in head- mounted applications in industrial, commercial and military 
applications such as field maintenance, equipment repair, aviation and air traffic control, 3-D medical imaging and 3-D computer-aided design 
and graphics systems. Present head-mounted display systems which utilize small CRTs are limited in application by size, weight and cost. In 
addition, CRT-based head-mounted displays, which typically operate at many thousands of volts, may not be considered safe for consumer 
applications. The Company believes that its SMART SLIDE imaging devices are well suited to high performance applications because of their 
potential for higher resolution in a smaller format. The Company is currently developing SMART SLIDE imaging devices with both 640 by 
480 and 1280 by 1024 pixels in an approximately .7 inch diagonal format. The Company believes that these displays will have applications in 
industrial, consumer, commercial and military systems.  

Projection System Products  

The Company also has development activities for compact, high-performance computer-driven projection products which have been designed 
to generate video rate computer-controlled images. The high degree of miniaturization that is possible with the Company's SMART SLIDE 
allows for the use of smaller optical components in highly compact portable projector products. The Company believes that applications exist 
for a small, high-definition computer-driven projector product including training, general presentations, and work-group computing sessions. 
The Company believes the greater reliability, resolution and speed of its imaging systems make them advantageous for other advanced 
projection system products, including large screen monitors and HDTV.  

Technology Overview  

The SMART SLIDE imaging device uses liquid crystals to filter light from an external lamp and the way it produces an image is analogous to 
that of a photographic slide; either forward or rear projection from a light source can be used. The Company anticipates that a SMART SLIDE 
imaging device should be capable of exceeding 2,000 lines per inch without reaching integrated circuit miniaturization or optical diffraction 
limits and that the maximum theoretical definitional limit of a SMART SLIDE imaging device could be approximately 10,000 lines per inch.  
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The SMART SLIDE uses conventional liquid crystals, color filters (or dichroic mirrors) and digital control circuits to filter white light into a 
color image in accordance with the input data stream. This conversion is achieved through active control over pixels on the SMART SLIDE 
surface. The pixels are arranged in a rectangular array (or matrix) to facilitate interconnection.  

Each pixel within the matrix must receive digital commands from the control circuitry. The pixels respond by attenuating light to the desired 
degree at the required time. The ability of the pixel to respond quickly to a wide range of control commands for varying degrees of brightness, 
termed grey scale dynamic range, is one of the principal requirements for high performance displays. Due to the importance of grey scale 
dynamic range to attainment of full color, rapid and precise control of the pixel is required.  

In the SMART SLIDE, varying degrees of light attenuation in each pixel are obtained through the use of polarized light and the inherent 
polarizability of liquid crystals. The degree of cross polarization, and hence the light attenuation, are controlled by applying a selected voltage 
across the liquid crystal at each pixel; this voltage causes a proportional degree of attenuation. Various types of liquid crystals are suitable for 
this application and several are already in wide use in LCD products.  

In order to obtain rapid and accurate control over each pixel on the imaging device, it is advantageous to have the voltage across each pixel 
controlled by an adjacent transistor or other active device; this arrangement provides the enhanced speed and control necessary for high 
performance. The transistors should be co-located with the pixel circuitry in order to enhance speed and grey scale and to reduce the 
complexity to the interconnections. Such design has been termed active matrix. The active devices in the matrix permit the control logic to set 
or refresh the pixel grey scale level much more rapidly than could otherwise be obtained. When the transistors are formed from integrated-
circuit- quality (single crystal) silicon, the display can be made fast enough to enable high (over one million) pixel counts, with excellent grey 
scale capability. If silicon of lower quality is used in a high-definition display, the speed of the active matrix electronics may not be adequate to 
prevent noticeable flicker, loss of color definition and other undesirable distortion.  

The number of pixels and therefore the number of transistors is extraordinary in a high-definition display. For example, a conventional 
monochrome graphics display is comprised of 640 by 480 pixels. Thus, 307,200 transistors are required for the graphics active matrix. A high-
definition color display requires more than one million transistors. For this reason, the formation of the active matrix approaches the 
complexity associated with integrated circuits ("ICs"). For liquid crystal displays, these transistors must be mounted on glass or other 
transparent material. The conventional manufacturing approach pursued worldwide involves the formation of the silicon material on glass or 
quartz, followed by circuit processing that must be carried out in specialized glass- compatible IC factories. A significant barrier to entry into 
this industry is the substantial capital required to establish a circuit-on-glass fabrication capability. The Company's use of its proprietary and 
patented wafer engineering technology to mount the circuit on glass allows the Company to use conventional silicon IC foundries.  

The speed, size and leakage of the transistors in the active matrix are the key factors governing suitability for high performance liquid crystal 
displays. Currently, transistors are mainly formed in one of two ways. One involves the use of a thin film of amorphous silicon-grown-on-glass. 
It is termed amorphous because a silicon film grown directly on glass has very high crystal disorder and low electronic quality (the speed of 
electrons in amorphous silicon is approximately 500 times slower than in IC quality, single crystal silicon). Consequently, amorphous thin film 
transistors have difficulty achieving the speed and the grey scale dynamic range required for digital high-definition imaging systems. The other 
method of transistor formation utilizes polycrystalline silicon thin films that are grown on glass at high temperatures. This process requires 
special high temperature glass or expensive quartz panels. Although better than amorphous films, polycrystalline silicon films are still not well 
suited to certain high-definition, high performance applications (the electrons are approximately 30 times slower than in single crystal silicon). 
Both approaches currently require the development and manufacture of large scale, active matrix integrated circuits in material that is already 
formed on glass or quartz substrates in specialized glass or quartz compatible IC foundries.  

The passive matrix approach now in use for simple watch and calculator displays is receiving renewed attention in order to circumvent certain 
limitations of the amorphous and polycrystalline active matrix approaches. The new technologies - if successfully developed - could be used 
with or without the active matrix. However, both active and passive approaches require integrated circuit drivers for the rows and columns in 
the pixel matrix and therefore must have integrated circuits mounted on glass (chip-on-glass), otherwise the number of electrical connections to 
the display becomes too large to be  
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practical. The Company believes that passive systems of this type are not capable of miniaturization to the same degree as a SMART SLIDE 
imaging device, due to the limitations of chip-on-glass technology. The Company's SMART SLIDE imaging device incorporates integrated 
circuit drivers and logic within the SMART SLIDE itself. Thus, the Company believes that this approach will allow for further miniaturization, 
reduced cost, greater reliability and high-definition.  

In contrast to the current passive and active matrix approaches, the Company utilizes high quality, single crystal silicon integrated circuits. This 
thin film, single crystal silicon is not grown on glass; rather, it is first formed on a silicon wafer (using the Company's patented and proprietary 
ISE/TM/ process) and is then transferred to glass. However, before it is transferred to glass, a circuit (including the active matrix, driver 
circuitry and other logic) is fabricated on the thin film by IC processes in a conventional silicon IC foundry so that the transferred layer is a 
functional and tested active matrix integrated circuit. By using this approach, the Company has successfully demonstrated and manufactured in 
limited commercial quantities active matrix LCDs comprised of 1280 by 1024 pixel displays, 800 by 600 pixel displays and 640 by 480 pixel 
displays.  

Kopin's primary wafer-engineered gallium arsenide material product is the aluminum gallium arsenide (AlGaAs) emitter, a carbon doped HBT 
wafer material. In addition to working on higher performance and simpler, lower cost versions of this structure, Kopin's development team is 
designing new materials structures for future applications. Once such structure is the indium gallium phosphide(InGaP) emitter HBT. The 
Company currently is delivering InGaP HBT materials to certain customer development programs. The device performance yielded by the 
Company's InGaP materials now approaches performance delivered by the Company's AlGaAs materials.  

Based on customer projections, the Company envisions InGaP HBT wafer- engineered materials production moving toward volume production 
over the next several years. The Company's InGaP HBTs are grown using the same equipment set as its AlGaAs HBTs, therefore, current 
capacity can support InGaP production as well as AlGaAs production.  

Patents, Proprietary Rights and Licenses  

An important part of the Company's product development strategy is to seek, when appropriate, protection for anticipated display products and 
proprietary technology through the use of various United States and foreign patents and contractual arrangements. The Company intends to 
prosecute and defend its proprietary technology aggressively.  

The Company owns 68 issued United States patents and has 48 pending United States patent applications. Many of these United States patents 
and applications have counterpart foreign patents, foreign applications or international applications through the Patent Cooperation Treaty. In 
addition, the Company is exclusively licensed by MIT under 31 issued United States patents, 6 pending United States patent applications, and 
some foreign counterparts to these United States patents and applications. The Company's material United States patents expire during the 
period from May 2006 through June 2014. The material United States patents licensed to the Company by MIT expire during the period from 
April 1997 through November 2011.  

In 1985, the Company obtained a license from MIT to certain wafer engineering and related technology. The license grants to the Company a 
worldwide license to make, have made, use, and sell products covered by the licensed patents for the life of these patents. The license is 
exclusive with respect to commercial applications until April 22, 1999. During the period of exclusivity, the Company also has a right of first 
refusal to negotiate a license for MIT improvements that fall within the claims of the licensed patents. In 1995, the Company obtained an 
additional license from MIT to certain optical technology. The license grants to the Company a worldwide license to make, have made, use, 
lease and sell products covered by the licensed patents until 2007. The Company pays royalties to MIT equal to the greater of $30,000 per year 
or up to 3% of net sales of products covered by the patents.  

Patent applications in the United States are maintained in secrecy until patents issue and since publication and discoveries in the scientific and 
patent literature tends to lag behind actual discoveries, the Company cannot be certain that it was the first creator of inventions covered by 
pending patent applications or the first to file patent applications on such inventions. There can be no assurance that the Company's pending 
patent applications or those of its licensors will result in issued patents or that any issued patents will afford protection against a competitor. In 
addition, there can be no assurance that others will not obtain patents that the Company would need to license or circumvent.  
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The Company's products might infringe the patent rights of others, whether existing now or in the future. For the same reasons, the products of 
others could infringe the patent rights of the Company. The defense and prosecution of patent suits is both costly and time-consuming, even if 
the outcome is favorable to the Company. These problems can be particularly severe in foreign countries. An adverse outcome in the defense of 
a patent suit could subject the Company to significant liabilities to third parties, require disputed rights to be licensed from third parties, or 
require the Company to cease selling its products.  

The Company also attempts to protect its proprietary information with contractual arrangements and under trade secret laws. Company 
employees enter into agreements providing for the assignment of rights to inventions made by them while in the employ of the Company. 
Agreements with consultants generally provide that rights to inventions made by them while consulting for the Company will be assigned to 
the Company unless such assignment is prohibited by the terms of any agreements with their regular employers. Agreements with employees, 
consultants and collaborators contain provisions intended to protect further the confidentiality of the Company's proprietary information. To 
date, the Company has had no experience in enforcing such agreements. There can be no assurance that these agreements will not be breached, 
that the Company would have adequate remedies for any breaches, or that the Company's trade secrets will not otherwise become known or be 
independently developed by competitors.  

Competition  

The market for high resolution flat panel displays is highly competitive and subject to rapid technological change. The Company currently 
competes primarily against products offered by large Asian electronics companies including Sharp, Optrex, Hitachi, Seiko, Toshiba, Sony, 
Sanyo and DTI, a joint venture between IBM and Toshiba, which have developed a dominant position in the market for advanced active matrix 
LCDs using polycrystalline and amorphous silicon-grown- on-glass. These companies have made monochrome and color LCD panels 
commercially available. The Company believes that the primary application for these displays is in notebook and laptop computers, although 
new smaller format products for applications in projection systems and head-mounted systems are also being sold. The Company believes that 
Asian manufacturers have made a multi-billion dollar investment in the silicon-grown-on-glass technology and have attained significant 
production economies. The Company may face an aggressive, well financed competitive response which may include the misappropriation of 
the Company's intellectual property or predatory pricing.  

Other companies, including David Sarnoff Research Center, Xerox PARC, Texas Instruments, Philips, Raychem, Hughes Aircraft and 
Hercules Display Systems, are mainly involved in research and development and limited production of specialty displays. Several companies, 
including Sony, Honeywell, Kaiser Electronics and S-Tron, are engaged in head-mounted display development. The Company believes that its 
imaging products will compete principally on the basis of performance and cost.  

The Company presently competes with approximately twelve large and small corporations with respect to the sale of its custom wafer-
engineered materials. Additionally, the Company also competes with a large number of research laboratories, companies and other institutions 
for research and development funding. The Company believes that the principal competitive factors with respect to the sale of its wafer-
engineered materials are performance and price.  

The production of GaAs integrated circuits has been and continues to be more costly than the production of silicon devices. This cost 
differential relates primarily to higher costs of the raw wafer material, lower production yields associated with the relatively immature GaAs 
technology and higher unit costs associated with lower production volumes. Although the Company has reduced production costs of its gallium 
arsenide HBT materials by achieving higher volumes, there can be no assurance that the Company will be able to continue to decrease 
production costs. In addition, the Company believes the costs to its customers of producing GaAs integrated circuits will continue to exceed the 
costs associated with the production of silicon devices. As a result, the Company must offer materials to producers of GaAs integrated circuits 
which provide superior performance to that of silicon such that the perceived price/performance of its customers' products is competitive with 
silicon devices. There can be no assurance that the Company can continue to identify markets which require performance superior to that 
offered by silicon solutions or that the Company will continue to offer products which provide sufficiently superior performance to offset the 
cost differentials.  

10  



Strategic Relationships and Major Collaborative Arrangements  

The Company has formed business alliances and strategic relationships to accelerate its technology, product development and capital formation 
initiatives, and advance its overall business strategy. In addition, the Company carries out development contracts and collaborative 
arrangements with private industry and government to fund continued development of the Company's core technology, as well as development 
of imaging devices for specific applications. The Company's contracts with government agencies contain certain milestones relating to 
technology development. These contracts may be terminated by such government agencies prior to completion of funding. The Company's 
policy is to retain its proprietary rights with respect to the principal commercial applications of its technology. To the extent technology 
development has been funded by a federal agency, under applicable federal laws such agency has the right to obtain a non-exclusive, non-
transferable, irrevocable, fully-paid license to practice or have practiced such technology for governmental use.  

Strategic Relationships  

Telecom Holding Co., Ltd. In October 1995, the Company entered into a strategic alliance with Telecom Holding Co., Ltd., an affiliate of 
Thailand based CP Group, which made an equity investment in the Company of $27.1 million by privately purchasing 1,643,716 shares of the 
Company's common stock at $16.50 per share. In addition to the investment, Telecom Holding and the Company intend to work closely on 
future business activities, including joint investments in manufacturing and marketing display products based upon the Company's SMART 
SLIDE imaging devices.  

UMC. In December 1995, the Company entered into a strategic foundry relationship and corporate alliance with UMC and its affiliate, Unipac. 
Under the agreement, UMC and Unipac made an equity investment in the Company of $3.7 million by privately purchasing a total of 225,000 
shares of the Company's common stock at $16.50 per share. Additionally, UMC agreed to provide integrated circuit wafer fabrication for the 
Company's SMART SLIDE imaging devices to establish volume production, and to work together with the Company on various AMLCD 
technology issues, including packaging and testing of displays.  

GMT. In January 1995, the Company entered into a wafer processing agreement with GMT, under which GMT provides integrated circuit 
wafer fabrication for the Company's SMART SLIDE imaging devices. Additionally, the Company has purchased a minority interest equity 
position in GMT for approximately $950,000.  

Philips. In August 1994, Kopin entered into agreements with two divisions of Philips. Under a Joint Agreement with Philips Consumer 
Electronics Company, the two companies plan to develop and manufacture full color AMLCD systems using the Company's SMART SLIDE 
imaging device. Under a Cross Licensing and Supply Agreement with Philips Laboratories, the Company has licensed Philips' patented falling 
raster single panel technology, a time sequential method of producing color images.  

MIT. In October 1993, the Company entered into a Cooperative Research and Development Agreement with MIT Lincoln Laboratory. Under 
the terms of the agreement and subsequent amendments, the Company and MIT together perform research on advanced display imaging 
devices for commercial and military use.  

Collaborative Development Arrangements  

The Company is engaged in or has recently completed these contracts and collaborative arrangements relating to the development of imaging 
devices using thin film single crystal silicon, and the development of advanced integrated circuits and advanced packaging techniques for 
digital circuits, as well as applications of its wafer engineering process.  

Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency. In May 1994, the Company received a $10.6 million, 30-month contract from DARPA for 
continued development of advanced, higher resolution SMART SLIDE imaging devices for head-mounted military applications. The displays 
developed in this effort have a 2560 x 2048 pixel resolution in a viewable area of approximately one square inch. As prime contractor for this 
DARPA program, the Company directs several participating subcontractors including David Sarnoff Research Center, Planar Systems and 
AlliedSignal.  
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Department of Commerce-National Institute of Standards and Technology ("NIST"). In April 1995, the Company entered into a $12.4 million 
three-year contract with the United States Department of Commerce, through the NIST Advanced Technology Program. The Company and its 
subcontractor, Philips Electronics North America Corporation, are collaborating to use the Company's wafer engineering technology and 
certain Philips technology to develop high- resolution color displays for high definition television applications.  

Department of Defense (Army). During 1994 and 1995, the Company performed research under a $2.0 million two-year contract from 
Department of Defense - Army Natick Research, Development and Engineering Center for continued development of high resolution, flat panel 
displays. The work performed under this contract has been coordinated with the Company's DARPA program. As prime contractor for this 
program, the Company is directing several participating subcontractors including Sarnoff, ILC Technology and Honeywell.  

Office of Naval Research. The Company is developing three-dimensional silicon integrated circuits for high density electronics under a 
contract which involves use of various techniques to form layered circuitry. The Company believes that this development will be important to 
the creation of highly integrated electronic imaging circuits.  

Employees  

The Company and its subsidiaries employ 116 full-time individuals and 6 part- time individuals. Of these, 10 hold Ph.D. degrees in Material 
Science, Electrical Engineering or Physics. The Company's management and professional employees have significant prior experience in 
wafer-engineered materials, processing and manufacturing, and other technologies related to flat panel display devices and products; most have 
more than ten years of experience in the electronics industry. The Company believes that it has been highly successful in attracting experienced 
and capable scientific, engineering and business personnel. None of the Company's employees is covered by collective bargaining agreements. 
The Company considers relations with its employees to be good.  

Item 2. Properties  

The Company's headquarters are located in the Myles Standish Industrial Park in Taunton, Massachusetts where it leases a custom designed 
25,200 square foot facility. The lease expires on October 31, 1998 with a two-year renewal option. The facility includes 6,000 square feet of 
contiguous environmentally controlled clean rooms for production. In October 1993, the Company entered into a five- year lease for a 74,000 
square foot manufacturing facility in Westborough, Massachusetts. This facility includes 7,000 square feet of contiguous environmentally 
controlled clean rooms for production. Forte's manufacturing facility of approximately 20,000 square feet is located in Rochester, New York, 
and leased under a five-year agreement which expires in 2000. In November, 1996, the Company extended for one year the lease for a 2,800 
square foot facility in Los Gatos, California used as a design facility for prototyping personal, portable display products. The Company believes 
that its existing space is adequate for its immediately foreseeable business needs.  

Item 3. Legal Proceedings  

In September 1996, Forte settled its suit against Virtual i-O, Inc. for infringement of a Forte patent relating to a head-tracking device for use in 
a headset. Virtual i-O, Inc. agreed to pay Forte a fixed sum of money and the parties entered into a cross-license arrangement.  

In March 1997, Forte filed a petition in federal bankruptcy court in the Western District of New York seeking protection from its creditors 
under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code. The Company does not believe this will have a material adverse effect on its financial 
condition or results of operations.  

The Company is not a party to any other material litigation and is not aware of any pending or threatened litigation that could have a material 
adverse effect upon the Company's business, operating results or financial condition.  

Item 4. Submission of Matter to a Vote of Security Holders  

Not Applicable.  
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE COMPANY  

The executive officers of the Company, who are elected on an annual basis to serve at the discretion of the Board of Directors, are as follows:  

 

John C. C. Fan, President, Chief Executive Officer, Chairman of the Board of Directors. Dr. Fan, a founder of the Company, has served as 
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Company since its organization in April 1984. He has also served as 
President of the Company since July 1990. Prior to July 1985, Dr. Fan was Associate Leader of the Electronic Materials Group at MIT Lincoln 
Laboratory. Dr. Fan is the author of numerous patents and scientific publications. Dr. Fan received a Ph.D. in Applied Physics from Harvard 
University.  

Paul J. Mitchell, Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Mitchell has served as Chief Financial Officer of the Company since April 1985 
and has been Treasurer of the Company since July 1987. Mr. Mitchell is a Certified Public Accountant.  

Ronald P. Gale, Vice President, Contract Research. Dr. Gale has served as Vice President of the Company in several capacities since July 
1985. Dr. Gale received a Ph.D. in Materials Science and Engineering from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology in 1978.  

Jeffrey J. Jacobsen, Vice President, Business Development. Mr. Jacobsen joined the Company as Vice President, Business Development in 
February 1990. From 1987 through 1989, Mr. Jacobsen served as Director of Strategic Business at OKI Semiconductor Company, U.S.A.  

Meth Jiaravanont, Vice President, Strategic Marketing. Mr. Jiaravanont joined the Company as Vice President, Strategic Marketing in 
December 1995 pursuant to an agreement between the Company and Telecom Holding Co., Ltd. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Jiaravanont 
served as a Vice President and Director in several different capacities for affiliates of CP Group in Asia and North America.  

Glen G. Kephart, Vice President, Marketing Display Products. Mr. Kephart joined the Company as Vice President, Marketing Display Products 
in December 1995. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Kephart served as General Manager, Conference Products, for Coherent 
Communications Systems for four years and previously served as a Director of National Distribution for Motorola.  

Matthew J. Micci, Vice President, Sales. Mr. Micci joined the Company in January 1988 as Regional Director of Sales and became Vice 
President, Sales in July 1990. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Micci worked for ten years for Texas Instruments Semiconductor Group.  
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         Name                     Age          Posi tion with the Company 
         ----                     ---          ---- --------------------- 
John C. C. Fan..............      53      President  and Chief Executive Officer;  
                                          Chairman of the Board of Directors 
 
Paul J. Mitchell............      44      Treasurer  and Chief Financial Officer 
 
Ronald P. Gale..............      46      Vice Pres ident, Contract Research 
 
Jeffrey J. Jacobsen.........      43      Vice Pres ident, Business Development 
 
Meth Jiaravanont............      38      Vice Pres ident, Strategic Marketing 
 
Glen G. Kephart.............      53      Vice Pres ident of Marketing, 
                                          Display P roducts 
 
Matthew J. Micci............      40      Vice Pres ident, Sales 



Part II  
 
Item 5. Market for Company's Common Stock and Related Stockholder Matters  

The Company's Common Stock trades on the Nasdaq Stock Market. The following table sets forth the high and low sale prices per share of 
Common Stock as reported on the Nasdaq Stock Market for the periods indicated.  

 

The Company has never paid dividends on its common stock and has no present plans to do so.  

As of December 31, 1996, there were 245 stockholders of record of the Company's Common Stock. These numbers do not reflect persons or 
entities who hold their stock through nominee or "street" name.  
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1996                         High    Low 
---------------------------------------- 
First Quarter               14 3/4  9 3/4  
Second Quarter              11 1/4  8 1/4  
Third Quarter               10 3/4      7  
Fourth Quarter              13 1/4  7 1/4  
 
1995 
-----------------------------------------  
 
First Quarter              11 3/4   7 1/2  
Second Quarter             11 1/4   7 3/4  
Third Quarter              18 1/2   9 1/2  
Fourth Quarter             19 3/4      14  



Item 6. Selected Financial Data  
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                                                                       Year Ended December 31, 
                                                      ------------------------------------------------ -------  
                                                          1996        1995       1994       1993       1992 
                                                      ------------  ---------  ---------  ---------  - -------  
                                                                (In thousands, except per share data) 
Statement of Operations Data: 
Revenue: 
   Product sales                                      $    11,727   $  7,161   $  2,830   $  2,456   $  2,379 
   Research and development                                 6,291      8,628     10,453      8,642     5,086 
   Interest and other income                                2,014      1,671      1,543      1,936       741 
                                                      -----------   --------   --------   --------   - ------ 
                                                           20,032     17,460     14,826     13,034     8,206 
                                                      -----------   --------   --------   --------   - ------ 
 
Expenses: 
   Cost of sales                                            9,489      6,059      1,981      1,769     1,798 
   Research and development                                16,467     15,613     14,602      9,983     6,088 
   General, administrative and selling                      7,070      4,013      4,575      2,591     1,694 
   Interest                                                   338        363        107         53       111 
   Other                                                      598        403        255        280       169 
 Write-down of subsidiary assets                            3,900          -          -          -         - 
 Non-recurring impairment charge                            4,990          -          -          -         - 
                                                      -----------   --------   --------   --------   - ------ 
                                                           42,852     26,451     21,520     14,676     9,860 
                                                      -----------   --------   --------   --------   - ------ 
 
Loss before minority interest                             (22,820)    (8,991)    (6,694)    (1,642)   (1,654)  
Minority interest                                           1,224          -          -          -         - 
                                                      -----------   --------   --------   --------   - ------ 
Net loss                                              $   (21,596)  $ (8,991)  $ (6,694)  $ (1,642)  $ (1,654)  
                                                      ===========   ========   ========   ========   = ====== 
 
Net loss per share                                         $(1.98)     $(.95)     $(.72)     $(.20)    $(.27)  
                                                      ===========   ========   ========   ========   = ====== 
 
 
Weighted average number of shares outstanding              10,921      9,462      9,267      8,242     6,219 
                                                      ===========   ========   ========   ========   = ====== 
 
                                                                               December 31, 
                                                      ------------------------------------------------ -------  
                                                          1996        1995       1994       1993       1992 
                                                      ------------  ---------  ---------  ---------  - -------  
Balance Sheet Data: 
   Cash and equivalents and marketable securities      $   27,072   $ 41,997  $   28,728  $ 39,231  $ 16,414 
   Working capital                                         27,687     44,727      30,566    42,169    17,921 
   Total assets                                            53,746     76,160      52,836    53,804    25,455 
   Long-term debt (excluding current maturities)            2,793      1,605       2,235       103       646 
   Accumulated deficit                                    (48,261)   (26,665)    (17,674)  (10,980)   (9,337)  
   Stockholders' equity                                    40,271     61,842      43,451    50,549    21,123 



Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results  
of Operations  

Kopin Corporation and its subsidiaries ("the Company") are engaged in the development, manufacture and sale of flat panel display devices 
and products, and custom wafer-engineered electronic materials for commercial and consumer markets. The Company's revenue is derived 
primarily from sales of its custom wafer-engineered materials and flat panel display devices and products as well as from development 
contracts with agencies of the federal government  

Results of Operations  

Years Ended December 31, 1996, 1995 and 1994  

The Company's research and development and product sales revenue was $18,018,253 in 1996, an increase of 14.1% from $15,789,526 in 
1995. Research and development revenue decreased to $6,291,172 in 1996 from $8,628,290 in 1995, a decrease of 27.1%. The decrease in 
1996 research and development revenue was attributable to a reduction in contract revenue from agencies of the federal government. In 1994, 
the Company received a $10,658,000 thirty-month contract award from Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency. The Company recorded 
revenue of $3,441,000 in 1996, $4,260,000 in 1995, and $2,465,000 in 1994 under this contract. The Company's product sales increased 63.8% 
to $11,727,081 in 1996 from $7,161,236 in 1995. The product sales increase was primarily a result of an increase in unit sales of the 
Company's wafer-engineered materials to customers for use in various wireless telecommunications products. During the year ended December 
31, 1996, approximately 34% of the Company's revenue resulted from product sales to a single customer.  

The Company's research and development and product sales revenue was $15,789,526 in 1995, an increase of 18.9% from $13,283,389 in 
1994. Research and development revenue decreased to $8,628,290 in 1995 from $10,453,050 in 1994, a decrease of 17.5%. The change in 
1995 research and development revenue was primarily attributable to a decrease in contract revenue from agencies of the federal government. 
The Company's product sales increased 153.0% to $7,161,236 in 1995 from $2,830,339 in 1994. The product sales increase was primarily due 
to initial sales of the Company's head-mounted display products, as well as an increase in unit sales of the Company's wafer-engineered 
materials.  

Interest and other income was $2,013,642, $1,670,808, and $1,542,359 for the years ended December 31, 1996, 1995 and 1994, respectively. 
The Company had license fee income of $279,725 in 1996, compared to $92,004 in each of 1995 and 1994.  

The Company's total operating expenses were $42,851,848 in 1996, an increase of 62.0% from $26,451,333 in 1995. This increase was 
primarily due to the increase in cost of sales associated with higher sales volume of wafer- engineered materials and display products, increased 
costs incurred for internal development programs, personnel increases and increased sales and marketing costs for the Company's wafer-
engineered materials and display products. Expenses for the year ended December 31, 1996 include an increase of $4,990,412 related to a non-
recurring charge for the write-down of certain intangible and long-lived assets in connection with the Company's adoption of Statement of 
Financial Accounting Standards No. 121, the expensing of purchased technology, and the write-off of certain previously deferred expenses. 
Additionally, expenses for the year ended December 31, 1996 include a $3,900,000 charge incurred in connection with a write-down of the 
assets of the Company's majority-owned subsidiary, Forte Technologies, Inc., and its investment in Forte due to declining sales and results of 
operations of the subsidiary. Cost of sales, which is comprised of materials, labor and manufacturing overhead, was $9,488,702 in 1996, or 
80.9% of product sales, compared to $6,059,440, or 84.6% of product sales in 1995. The reduction in the cost of sales percentage was primarily 
due to reduced manufacturing start-up costs incurred in the initial production of the Company's head-mounted display systems from 1995 to 
1996, and an increase in unit production volumes of the Company's wafer-engineered materials in 1996. Reducing cost of sales as a percentage 
of sales for the Company's products is generally dependent on achieving manufacturing economies of scale in order to manufacture at a lower 
per unit basis. Total operating expenses in 1995 were $26,451,333, an increase of 22.9% from $21,520,005 in 1994. Cost of sales in 1995 was 
$6,059,440, or 84.6% of product sales, compared to $1,980,701, or 70.0% of product sales in 1994. The increase in cost of sales percentage in 
1995 was primarily due to manufacturing start-up costs incurred in the production of the Company's head-mounted display systems.  
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Research and development expenses include expenses incurred in support of internal development programs and programs funded by agencies 
of the federal government. Total research and development expenses have increased each year since 1989, rising to $16,467,098 in 1996 from 
$15,613,287 in 1995 and $14,601,820 in 1994, an increase of 5.5% in 1996 and 6.9% in 1995. The increase in research and development 
expenses in 1996 was primarily due to increased activity in the Company's internal development programs for electronic imaging devices and 
display products, wafer-engineered materials and head-mounted display systems, including increases in circuit design costs, staffing, purchases 
of materials and laboratory supplies, and fabrication and packaging of the Company's SMART SLIDE imaging devices. Expenses related to the 
Company's internal development programs for electronic imaging and display products and wafer-engineered materials were $9,278,481 for the 
year ended December 31, 1996, compared to $6,240,299 and $4,070,329 for the years ended December 31, 1995 and 1994, respectively. These 
increases were partially offset by a decrease in research and development expenses incurred in support of programs funded by agencies of the 
federal government.  

General, administrative and selling expenses consist of the expenses incurred by the Company's business development and sales personnel, 
marketing expenses, and administrative and general corporate expenses. General, administrative and selling expenses were $7,070,275 in 1996, 
an increase of 76.2% from $4,012,764 in 1995. The increase in general, administrative and selling expenses in 1996 was primarily due to 
increases in display product marketing costs, advertising and trade show costs, and increased personnel and related costs. General, 
administrative and selling expenses in 1995 were $4,012,764, a decrease of 12.3% from $4,574,806 in 1994. General, administrative and 
selling expenses were higher in 1994 than in 1995 as a result of costs incurred relating to the Company's lease of a manufacturing facility in 
October, 1993, and the modification of the facility prior to the commencement of development and manufacturing activities. These costs were 
classified as general and administrative in 1994, and as cost of sales and research and development expense in 1995. In addition, general and 
administrative expenses include non- cash charges for compensation expense of $66,776 in 1996, $130,188 in 1995 and $135,312 in 1994, 
relating to the issuance of certain stock options. The Company expects to incur additional increases in general, administrative and selling 
expenses in the future as it commercializes its imaging devices and display products and wafer-engineered materials.  

As of December 31, 1996, the Company had tax loss carryforwards of approximately $43,650,000.  

On January 1, 1996, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 121, "Accounting for the Impairment of 
Long-Lived Assets and Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed Of." This Statement establishes accounting standards for the carrying value of long-
lived and certain identifiable intangible assets. In January 1996, the Company incurred a non-recurring charge of $4,990,412 which included a 
write-down associated with the initial adoption of SFAS No. 121, the expensing of purchased technology, and the write-off of certain 
previously deferred expenses.  

In October 1995, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation," which was 
effective for the Company beginning January 1, 1996. SFAS No. 123 requires expanded disclosures of stock-based compensation arrangements 
with employees and encourages (but does not require) compensation costs to be measured based upon the fair value of the equity instrument 
awarded. However, the Company, as permitted will continue to apply APB Opinion No. 25, which recognizes compensation cost based on the 
intrinsic value of the equity instrument awarded.  

Liquidity and Capital Resources  

The Company has financed its operations primarily though private placements of its equity securities, the initial public offering of its common 
stock in April 1992, another public offering in March 1993, research and development revenue, and sales of its custom wafer-engineered 
materials and flat panel display devices and products. The Company currently has an unused line of credit of $500,000 at year end. The 
Company periodically enters into loan agreements to finance equipment purchases and other activities. As of December 31, 1996, sales of 
equity securities have raised approximately $92,500,000, including $13,300,000 of net proceeds from the Company's initial public offering, 
$26,500,000 of net proceeds from the Company's March 1993 public offering, $3,300,000 from a private stock sale in November 1992, 
$4,375,000 from the exercise of a 625,000 share stock warrant in December 1993, and $30,437,000 from private stock sales to Telecom 
Holding Co.,Ltd. and United Microelectronics Corporation and its affiliate in the fourth quarter of 1995. The Company has commitments of 
approximately $5,500,000 under existing research and development contracts and customer purchase orders to be fulfilled during 1997 and 
1998. However, some of these commitments are pursuant to contracts that  
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may be terminated prior to completion of funding. Funding for these contracts is contingent upon satisfactory performance and the attainment 
of certain milestones.  

As of December 31, 1996, the Company had cash and equivalents and marketable securities of $27,072,106 and working capital of 
$27,686,990 compared to $41,996,977 and $44,727,410 as of December 31, 1995. During 1996, cash and equivalents and marketable securities 
decreased $14,832,621. The decrease in cash and equivalents and marketable securities is primarily due to $12,785,361 of cash used in 
operations and $3,779,919 for capital expenditures. These decreases were partially offset by borrowings of $2,830,425 and $1,800,000 in 
equity financing raised by one of the Company's subsidiaries from certain of its minority stockholders. The Company also has approximately 
$1,640,000 of marketable securities held in escrow as equipment financing collateral which is shown in other assets.  

Revenue from long-term contracts is recognized on the percentage-of- completion method of accounting as work is performed, based upon the 
ratio that incurred costs or hours bear to estimated total completion costs or hours. Amounts received under long-term contracts are recognized 
as revenue is earned, and amounts earned on contracts in progress in excess of billings are classified as unbilled receivables. Unbilled 
receivables are billed based on dates stipulated in the related agreement or in periodic installments based upon the Company's invoicing cycle. 
The Company has unbilled accounts receivable of $2,933,863 in 1996 compared to $3,438,766 in 1995.  

The Company periodically enters into various long-term debt arrangements in connection with acquisition of certain capital equipment. During 
1996, the Company entered into two equipment financings totalling $1,285,511, and a capital lease obligation of $1,200,000. As of December 
31, 1996, long-term debt obligations totalled $4,140,697, of which $1,347,636 is payable in 1997. During 1996, the Company made principal 
payments on long-term debt of $924,421.  

In October 1993, the Company entered into a five-year lease for a 74,000 square foot manufacturing facility. This facility, which includes 7,000 
square feet of environmentally controlled clean rooms, is being used for expansion of the Company's manufacturing capabilities for production 
of wafer-engineered materials and electronic imaging devices. The Company will make lease payments of approximately $4.0 million over the 
five-year term.  

The Company expects to expend approximately $8,000,000 on capital expenditures over the next 36 months. Of this amount, approximately 
$6,000,000 is expected to be used for expansion of manufacturing equipment required for development and manufacturing of electronic 
imaging devices and display products, and wafer-engineered materials, and the balance is expected to be used for the acquisition of laboratory 
and testing equipment and general facility upgrades. The Company expects to use approximately $3,000,000 in 1997, $2,500,000 in 1998 and 
$2,500,000 in 1999 for capital equipment and expansion of the Company's manufacturing capabilities. The Company also expects to use 
approximately $2,000,000 for development of advanced display circuit designs for its electronic imaging devices.  

The Company expects to incur significant additional research and development and other costs, including costs related to the continued 
development and commercialization of its electronic imaging devices and display products. The Company's future capital requirements will 
depend on many factors, including the establishment of collaborative arrangements, the cost of manufacturing facilities, commercialization 
activities and arrangements, continued scientific progress in its imaging device and display product development programs, the magnitude of 
these programs, the costs involved in filing, prosecuting and enforcing patent claims, and competing technological and market developments. 
From time to time, Kopin may also make equity investments in other companies engaged in certain aspects of the flat panel display and 
electronics industries as part of its business strategy.  

From October 1994 through December 31, 1996, the Company made a series of investments in Forte Technologies, Inc., a developer and 
manufacturer of virtual reality head-mounted systems, totalling $5,750,000. As a result of declining sales and results of operations at Forte, the 
Company recorded a write-down of the value of Forte's assets and its investment in Forte at December 31, 1996 totaling $3,900,000, and is 
evaluating its strategic options regarding its investment. In March 1997, Forte filed a voluntary petition seeking protection from its creditors 
under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code. As a result of such filing, the sales of Forte's products may decline significantly from 
levels achieved in 1996, and Forte may be unable to continue its operations.  

The Company believes that its present cash and equivalents and marketable securities will be adequate to finance its anticipated operating and 
capital requirements and to meet liquidity needs through at least fiscal 1998.  
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RISK FACTORS  

Certain of the statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are forward looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. 
Such statements are subject to important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially, including the following risk factors.  

Imaging Devices and Display Products; Uncertainty of Successful Commercialization  

The Company's product sales have been derived primarily from its custom wafer-engineered materials and not from its imaging devices and 
display products. To date, the Company has demonstrated and had limited sales of active matrix LCDs and related display products based on its 
core technology. Continued development and testing are necessary before such a SMART SLIDE imaging device or the Company's proposed 
display products will be generally available for wide- spread commercial end-use applications. Delays in development may result in the 
Company's introduction of a SMART SLIDE imaging device and its display products later than anticipated, which may have an adverse effect 
on both the Company's financial and competitive position. Moreover, there can be no assurance that the Company will ever be successful in 
commercializing a SMART SLIDE imaging device or any of its proposed display products. In addition, there is no assurance that a SMART 
SLIDE imaging device or any of the Company's display products will be technically or commercially successful.  

Competition and Technological Advances  

The markets for electronic imaging displays, display products and computer peripherals are highly competitive. The Company's ability to 
compete will depend in part upon the consistency of product quality and delivery, as well as pricing, technical capability and servicing, in 
addition to factors within and outside its control, including the success and timing of product introductions by the Company and its 
competitors, product performance and price, product distribution and customer support. There can be no assurance that the Company's 
competitors will not succeed in developing technologies and products that are equally or more effective than any which are being developed by 
the Company or which would render the Company's technology, imaging devices or display products obsolete and non-competitive. In 
addition, certain competitors have substantially greater financial, technical and other resources than the Company. The electronic imaging 
display, display product, computer peripheral and gallium arsenide materials industries have been characterized by rapid and significant 
technological advances. There can be no assurance that the Company's products will be reflective of such advances or that the Company will 
have sufficient funds to invest in new technologies or products or processes.  

Patents and Protection of Proprietary Technology  

The Company's ability to compete effectively with other companies will depend, in part, on the ability of the Company and its licensors to 
maintain the proprietary nature of their respective technologies. Although the Company has been licensed under, awarded or has filed 
applications for numerous patents in the United States and foreign countries, there can be no assurance as to the degree of protection offered by 
these patents, or as to the likelihood that pending patents will be issued. There can be no assurance that competitors, in both the United States 
and foreign countries, many of which have substantially greater resources and have made substantial investments in competing technologies, 
will not seek to apply for and obtain patents that will prevent, limit or interfere with the Company's ability to make and sell its products or 
intentionally infringe the Company's patents. The defense and prosecution of patent suits is both costly and time-consuming, even if the 
outcome is favorable to the Company. This is particularly true in foreign countries because the expenses associated with such proceedings can 
be prohibitive. In addition, there is an inherent unpredictability regarding obtaining and enforcing patents in foreign countries. An adverse 
outcome in the defense of a patent suit could subject the Company to significant liabilities to third parties, require disputed rights to be licensed 
from third parties, or require the Company to cease selling its products. The Company also relies on unpatented proprietary technology and 
there can be no assurance that others may not independently develop the same or similar technology or otherwise obtain access to the 
Company's proprietary technology.  

Limited Manufacturing History; Dependence on Integrated Circuit Manufacturers  

The Company has limited experience manufacturing imaging devices or display products. The Company has developed manufacturing 
facilities and capabilities and entered into arrangements contemplating the establishment of a full-scale  
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manufacturing capability for SMART SLIDE imaging devices. These arrangements include relationships with third party integrated circuit 
fabrication companies. The Company is dependent on these integrated circuit fabrication companies for the manufacture of its SMART SLIDE 
imaging devices. The termination or cancellation of the Company's agreements with these companies could adversely affect the Company's 
ability to manufacture its proposed products. In such event, the Company could be required to establish an alternative manufacturing 
relationship or establish its own integrated circuit fabrication capability. There can be no assurance that the Company would be able to establish 
such a relationship on acceptable terms or its own capability; in any event the time required to establish such a substitute relationship or 
capability could substantially delay the commercialization of the Company's SMART SLIDE imaging devices and display products, which in 
turn, could have a substantial adverse impact on the Company's results of operations.  

Dependence on Single Customer  

The Company's gallium arsenide materials business is highly dependent on one customer, Rockwell International. Either the loss of this 
customer or a significant reduction in orders from this customer would have a material adverse effect on the Company's gallium arsenide 
materials business and the Company's results of operations as a whole.  

Seasonality  

The Company's business is not seasonal in nature.  

Inflation  

The Company does not believe that its operations have been materially affected by inflationary forces.  

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data  

The financial statements of the Company required by this item are incorporated in this report on pages F-1 through F-13. For other financial 
statements and schedules along with independent auditors' reports thereon required under this item, reference is made to Item 14 of this Report. 

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and  
Financial Disclosure  

Not Applicable.  
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Part III  

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant  

(a) Directors. The information with respect to directors required by this item is incorporated herein by reference from the Company's Proxy 
Statement relating to the Company's Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on May 22, 1997 (the "Proxy Statement").  

(b) Executive Officers. The information with respect to executive officers required by this item is set forth in Part I of this Report.  

(c) Reports of Beneficial Ownership. The information with respect to reports of beneficial ownership required by this item is incorporated 
herein by reference from the Company's Proxy Statement.  

Item 11. Executive Compensation  

The information required under this item is incorporated herein by reference from the Company's Proxy Statement.  

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management  

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference from the Company's Proxy Statement.  

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions  

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference from the Company's Proxy Statement.  
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Part IV  

Item 14. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules, and Reports on Form 8-K  
 

 

(2) Financial Statement Schedules:  

Schedule II - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts  

Schedules other than the one listed above have been omitted because of the absence of conditions under which they are required or because the 
required information is included in the financial statements or the notes thereto.  
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(a) Documents filed as part of the Report:                                  Page 
                                                                            ---- 
  (1)  Consolidated Financial Statements: 
 
       Index to Consolidated Financial Statements                           F-1 
 
       Independent Auditors' Report.                                        F-2 
 
       Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 1996 and 1995            F-3 
 
       Consolidated Statements of Operations for th e Years Ended 
        December 31, 1996, 1995 and 1994.                                   F-4 
 
       Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equ ity for the 
        Years Ended December 31, 1996, 1995 and 199 4.                       F-5 
 
       Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for th e Years Ended 
        December 31, 1996, 1995 and 1994.                                   F-6 
 
       Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.                      F-7 to F-13  

  (3)  Exhibits 
  3.1       Amended and Restated Certificate of Inc orporation                                         **  
  3.2       Amendment to Certificate of Incorporati on 
  3.3       Amended and Restated By-laws                                                              **  
  4         Specimen Certificate of Common Stock                                                       *  
  10.1      Form of Employee Agreement with Respect  to Inventions and Proprietary 
            Information                                                                                *  
+ 10.2      1985 Incentive Stock Option Plan, as am ended                                               *  
+ 10.3      1992 Stock Option Plan Amendment 
  10.4      Form of Key Employee Stock Purchase Agr eement                                              *  
  10.5      Prudential Retirement Accumulation 401( K) Plan                                             *  
  10.6      Subcontract by and between the Company and David Sarnoff Research Center 
            dated as of August 16, 1991, pursuant t o an Agreement by and between David 
            Sarnoff Research Center and the U.S. Ai r Force                                             *  
  10.7      Base Technology License Agreement by an d between the Company and Prutech 
            dated December 31, 1986                                                                    *  
  10.8      Agreement for License or Sale of Techno logy by and between the Company and 
            Prutech dated December 31, 1986, as ame nded                                                *  
  10.9      Contract for Research and Development b y and between the Company and Prutech 
            dated December 31, 1986                                                                    *  
  10.10     License Agreement by and between the Co mpany and Massachusetts Institute of 
            Technology dated April 22, 1985, as ame nded                                                *  
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10.11     Letter Agreement by and between the Compa ny and Boeing Defense and Space 
          Group dated February 11, 1992                                                              *  
10.12     Facility Lease, as amended, by and betwee n the Company and Myles Standish 
          Associates Limited Partnership commencing  November 1, 1985                                 *  
10.13     Technology and Business Development Agree ment, dated as of November 6, 1992 
          by and between the Company and Rockwell I nternational Corporation (confidential 
          portions on file with the Commission)                                                     **  
10.14     Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of Nov ember 6, 1992, by and between the 
          Company and Rockwell International Corpor ation                                            **  
10.15     Contract between the Company and the Defe nse Advanced Research Projects 
          Agency, dated September 25, 1992                                                          **  
10.16     Contract between the Company and the Davi d Sarnoff Research Center, dated 
          July 17, 1992                                                                             **  
10.17     Contract between the Company and Microele ctronics and Computer Technology 
          Corporation, dated September 15, 1992                                                     **  
10.18     Contract between the Company and Standish  Industries, dated November 30, 1992             **  
10.19     Contract by and between the Company and E TDL, R&D Acquisition Office, 
          Labcom dated June 30, 1992                                                                **  
10.20     Contract by and between the Company and t he Air Force Systems Command 
          dated April 24, 1992                                                                      **  
10.21     Contract by and between the Company and t he Office of Naval Research dated 
          September 30, 1992                                                                        **  
10.22     Contract by and between the Company and t he National Science Foundation 
          dated August 24, 1992                                                                     **  
10.23     Contract by and between the Company and t he United States Department of 
          Commerce dated September 16, 1992                                                         **  
10.24     Contract by and between the Company and t he United States Army Natick RD&E 
          Center dated December 29, 1993                                                           ***  
10.25     Contract by and between the Company and t he Office of Naval Research dated 
          July 22, 1993                                                                            ***  
10.26     Contract by and between the Company and D epartment of the Air Force, Air Force 
          Material Command dated September 22, 1993                                                 ***  
10.27     Facility Lease, by and between the Compan y and Massachusetts Technology Park 
          Corporation dated October 15, 1993                                                       ***  
10.28     Contract amendment by and between the Com pany and Advanced Research Projects 
          Agency dated December 3, 1993                                                            ***  
10.29     Cooperative Research and Development Agre ement, by and between the Company 
          and Massachusetts Institute of Technology  Lincoln Laboratory dated September 
          14, 1993 (confidential portions on file w ith the Commission)                             ***  
10.30     Immersion Display System Development Agre ement, by and between the Company 
          and Honeywell Technology Center dated Oct ober 19, 1993 (confidential 
          portions on file with the Commission)                                                    ***  
10.31     Master Sublease  - Purchase Agreement, by  and between the Company and 
          Massachusetts Industrial Finance Agency d ated June 23, 1994                             ****  
10.32     Contract by and between the Company and t he Advanced Research Projects 
          Agency dated May 25, 1994(confidential po rtions on file with the Commission)            ****  
10.33     Joint Agreement by and between the Compan y and Philips Consumer Electronics 
          Company, Division of Philips Electronics North America Corporation dated 
          July 25, 1994 (confidential portions on f ile with the Commission)                      *****  
10.34     Cross License and Supply Agreement, by an d between the Company and 
          Philips Electronics North America Corpora tion dated June 18, 1994(confidential 
          portions on file with the Commission)                                                  *****  



 

* Filed as an exhibit to Registration Statement on Form S-1, File No. 33-45853, and incorporated herein by reference.  

** Filed as an exhibit to Registration Statement on Form S-1, File No.  

 
33-57450, and incorporated herein by reference.  
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   10.35     Securities Purchase Agreement, by and between the Company and Forte 
             Technologies, Inc. dated October 24, 1 994(confidential portions on file 
             with the Commission)                                                                       #  
   10.36     Contract by and between the Company an d Office of Naval Research dated 
             September 30, 1994                                                                         #  
   10.37     Contract by and between the Company an d Hughes Training, Inc. dated 
             September 15, 1994                                                                         #  
   10.38     Securities Purchase Agreement, by and between the Company 
             and GMT Microelectronics Corporation, dated January 6, 1995 
             (confidential portions on file with th e Commission)                                       ##  
   10.39     Note Agreement, by and between the Com pany and The First National 
             Bank of Boston dated March 1, 1995                                                        ##  
+  10.40     Amended and Restated Employment Agreem ent between the Company and 
             Dr. John C.C. Fan, dated as of May 1, 1995                                               ###  
   10.41     Contract by and between the Company an d the United States Department of 
             Commerce dated April 25,1995                                                            # ###  
   10.42     Securities Purchase Agreement, by and between the Company and Forte 
             Technologies, Inc. dated September 15,  1995                                             # ###  
   10.43     Cooperative Research and Development A greement, by and between the Company 
             and Massachusetts Institute of Technol ogy Lincoln Laboratory dated 
             June 21, 1995 (confidential portions o n file with the Commission)                       # ###  
   10.44     Stock Purchase Agreement, by and betwe en the Company and Telecom Holding 
             dated November 24, 1995                                                                    &  
   10.45     Letter Agreement, by and between the C ompany and Telecom Holding Co., Ltd. 
             Co., Ltd. dated November 24, 1995                                                          &  
   10.46     Stock Purchase Agreement, by and betwe en the Company and United Microelectronics 
             Corporation dated November 29, 1995                                                     # ###  
   10.47     Stock Purchase Agreement, by and betwe en the Company and Unipac Optoelectronics 
             Corporation dated November 29, 1995                                                     # ###  
   10.48     Letter Agreement, by and between the C ompany and United Microelectronics 
             Corporation dated November 29, 1995(co nfidential portions on file with the Commission)  # ###  
   10.49     Amendment Agreement, by and between th e Company and Rockwell International 
             Corporation dated September 29, 1995                                                    # ###  
   10.50     Securities Purchase Agreement, by and between the Company and 
             Unitek Semiconductor, Inc. dated Janua ry 26, 1996                                        (S)  
   10.51     Chattel Leasing Promissory Note, by an d between the Company 
             and BancBoston Leasing dated January 2 9, 1996                                            (S)  
   10.52     Securities Purchase Agreement, by and between the Company 
             and Forte Technologies, Inc. dated Feb ruary 8, 1996.                                     (S)  
   10.53     Securities Purchase Agreement, by and between Forte Technologies, Inc. 
             and Investors, dated June 27, 1996.                                                   (S) (S)  
   10.54     Master lease agreement, by and between  the Company and BancBoston Leasing 
             dated December 23, 1996 
   11        Statement of Computation of Loss per S hare 
   21.1      Subsidiaries of Kopin Corporation 
   23.1      Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP, Inde pendent Auditors of the Company 
   27        Financial Data Schedule 



 

(S)(S) Filed as an exhibit to Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 29, 1996 and incorporated herein by reference. 

+ Management contract or compensatory plan required to be filed as an exhibit to this form pursuant to Item 14(c) of this report.  

(b) Reports on Form 8-K:  

None  
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***    Filed as an exhibit to Annual Report on Form  10-K for the fiscal year 
       ended December 31, 1993 and incorporated her ein by reference. 
 
****   Filed as an exhibit to Quarterly Report on F orm 10-Q for the quarterly 
       period ended July 2, 1994 and incorporated h erein by reference. 
 
*****  Filed as an exhibit to Quarterly Report on F orm 10-Q for the quarterly 
       period ended October 1, 1994 and incorporate d herein by reference. 
 
#      Filed as an exhibit to Annual Report on Form  10-K for the fiscal year 
       ended December 31, 1994 and incorporated her ein by reference. 
 
##     Filed as an exhibit to Quarterly Report on F orm 10-Q for the quarterly 
       period ended April 1, 1995 and incorporated herein by reference. 
 
###    Filed as an exhibit to Quarterly Report on F orm 10-Q for the quarterly 
       period ended July 1, 1995 and incorporated h erein by reference. 
 
####   Filed as an exhibit to Annual Report on Form  10-K for the fiscal year 
       ended December 31, 1995 and incorporated her ein by reference. 
 
&      Filed as an exhibit to Schedule 13D for Tele com Holding, Co., Ltd. filed  
       on October 10, 1995 and incorporated herein by reference. 
 
(S)    Filed as an exhibit to Quarterly Report on F orm 10-Q for the quarterly 
       period ended March 30, 1996 and incorporated  herein by reference. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT  

Board of Directors and Stockholders  
Kopin Corporation  
Taunton, Massachusetts  

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Kopin Corporation and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 1996 and 1995, and 
the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 
31, 1996. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
financial statements based on our audits.  

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test 
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles 
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our 
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Kopin Corporation and 
Subsidiaries as of December 31, 1996 and 1995, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period 
ended December 31, 1996 in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.  

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, in 1996 the Company changed its method of accounting for the recognition of 
impairment of long-lived assets and long-lived assets to be disposed of.  

 
F-2  

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP 
 
Deloitte & Touche LLP 
Boston, Massachusetts 
February 10, 1997 (March 7, 1997 as to Note 13) 
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See notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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                                                                                        December 31, 
                                                                              ------------------------ ---------  
                                                                                  1996                  1995 
                                                                                  ----                  ---- 
Assets 
Current assets: 
    Cash and equivalents                                                       $16,511,291          $2 4,718,023  
    Marketable securities                                                       10,560,815           1 7,278,954  
    Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $137,4 00 and $85,600 
      Billed                                                                     3,650,075            3,147,846  
      Unbilled                                                                   2,933,863            3,438,766  
    Inventory                                                                    3,073,643            6,402,190  
    Prepaid expenses and other current assets                                    1,257,781            1,984,612  
                                                                               -----------          -- ---------  
       Total current assets                                                     37,987,468           5 6,970,391  
 
Equipment and improvements: 
    Equipment                                                                   20,862,918           1 9,258,354  
    Leasehold improvements                                                         772,717              835,900  
    Furniture and fixtures                                                         361,483              414,707  
    Equipment under construction                                                   636,255              964,446  
                                                                               -----------          -- ---------  
                                                                                22,633,373           2 1,473,407  
    Accumulated depreciation and amortization                                   11,731,828            9,902,444  
                                                                               -----------          -- ---------  
                                                                                10,901,545           1 1,570,963  
Other assets                                                                     2,962,149            3,438,334  
Intangible assets                                                                1,894,392            4,179,877  
                                                                               -----------          -- ---------  
       Total assets                                                            $53,745,554          $7 6,159,565  
                                                                               ===========          == =========  
 
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity 
Current liabilities: 
    Note payable                                                                  $500,000           $ 3,000,000  
    Accounts payable                                                             6,945,053            7,712,508  
    Accrued payroll and expenses                                                 1,427,305              808,826  
    Current portion of long-term obligations                                     1,347.636              629,643  
    Current portion of uncarned revenue                                             80,484               92,004  
                                                                               -----------          -- ---------  
       Total current liabilities                                                10,300,478           1 2,242,981  
 
Deferred rent                                                                      381,166              388,833  
Unearned revenue, less current portion                                                   -               80,484  
Long-term obligations, less current portion                                      2,793,061            1,605,050  
Commitments 
Stockholders' equity: 
    Preferred stock, par value $.01 per share: Auth orized, 3,000 shares: 
       none issued and outstanding 
    Common stock, par value $.01 per share: Authori zed, 20,000,000 shares; 
       issued 10,931,408 shares in 1996 and 10,915, 019 shares in 1995              109,314              109,150  
    Additional paid-in capital                                                  88,605,451           8 8,355,145  
    Deferred compensation                                                        (227,706)             (94,482)  
    Marketable securities valuation                                                 44,933              137,183  
    Deficit                                                                   (48,261,143)         (26 ,664,779)  
                                                                               -----------          -- ---------  
       Total stockholders' equity                                               40,270,849           6 1,842,217  
                                                                               -----------          -- ---------  
       Total liabilities and stockholders' equity                              $53,745,554          $7 6,159,565  
                                                                               ===========          == =========  



KOPIN CORPORATION  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS  

 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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                                                                    Year Ended December 31, 
                                                      ------------------------------------------------ - 
                                                            1996               1995              1994 
                                                           ------             ------            ------  
Revenue: 
   Product sales                                         $ 11,727,081     $ 7,161,236      $  2,830,33 9 
   Research and development                                 6,291,172       8,628,290        10,453,05 0 
   Interest and other income                                2,013,642       1,670,808         1,542,35 9 
                                                      ---------------     -----------      ----------- - 
                                                           20,031,895      17,460,334        14,825,74 8 
                                                      ---------------     -----------      ----------- - 
 
Cost and expenses: 
   Cost of sales                                            9,488,702       6,059,440         1,980,70 1 
   Research and development                                16,467,098      15,613,287        14,601,82 0 
   General, administrative and selling                      7,070,275       4,012,764         4,574,80 6 
   Interest                                                   337,418         363,288           107,18 6 
   Other                                                      597,943         402,554           255,49 2 
   Write-down of subsidiary assets                          3,900,000               -                 - 
   Non-recurring impairment charge                          4,990,412               -                 - 
                                                      ---------------     -----------      ----------- - 
 
                                                           42,851,848      26,451,333        21,520,00 5 
                                                      ---------------     -----------      ----------- - 
Loss before minority interest                             (22,819,953)     (8,990,999)       (6,694,25 7)  
Minority interest                                           1,223,589               -                 - 
                                                      ---------------     -----------      ----------- - 
Net loss                                                 ($21,596,364)    ($8,990,999)      ($6,694,25 7)  
                                                      ===============     ===========       ========== = 
 
Net loss per share                                             ($1.98)          ($.95)            ($.7 2)  
                                                      ===============     ===========       ========== = 
 
Weighted average number of shares outstanding              10,921,138       9,461,897         9,267,31 5 
                                                      ===============     ===========      =========== = 



KOPIN CORPORATION  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY  

 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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                                       Common Stock       Additional 
                                       ------------        Paid-in      Deferred    Securities                 Treasury 
                                   Shares       Amo unt    Capital    Compensation  Valuation      Defi cit       Stock       Total 
                                ------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------  
Balance, January 1, 1994          9,231,803    $92, 318  $61,748,948   $(312,482)        -      $(10,97 9,523)       -    $50,549,261 
Issuance of common stock              5,000         50       66,200      -              -            -              -         66,250 
Exercise of stock options            61,908        619       64,088      -              -            -              -         64,707 
Compensation relating to 
  grant of stock options              -           -           47,500     (47,500)        -            -              -         - 
Amortization of compensation 
   relating to grant of stock 
     options                          -           -            -         135,312         -            -              -        135,312 
Net unrealized loss on 
   marketable securities              -           -            -          -           (670,000)       -              -       (670,000)  
Net loss                              -           -            -          -              -        (6,69 4,257)       -     (6,694,257)  
                                ------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------  
Balance, December 31, 1994        9,298,711     92, 987   61,926,736    (224,670)     (670,000)  (17,67 3,780)       -     43,451,273 
Issuance of common stock, 
   net of issuance of $397,143    1,868,716     15, 687   26,325,985      -              -            -         4,095,000  30,436,672 
Purchase of common stock           (300,000)      -            -          -              -            -        (4,095,000) (4,095,000)  
Exercise of stock options            47,592        476      102,424      -              -            -              -        102,900 
Amortization of compensation 
   relating to grant of stock 
     options                          -           -            -         130,188         -            -              -        130,188 
Net unrealized gain on 
   marketable securities              -           -            -          -            807,183        -              -        807,183 
Net loss                              -           -            -          -              -        (8,99 0,999)       -     (8,990,999)  
                                ------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------  
Balance, December 31, 1995       10,915,019    109, 150   88,355,145     (94,482)      137,183   (26,66 4,779)       -     61,842,217 
Exercise of stock options            16,389        164       50,306      -              -            -              -         50,470 
Compensation relating to 
   grant of stock options             -           -          200,000    (200,000)        -            -              -         - 
Amortization of compensation 
   relating to grant of stock 
     options                          -           -            -          66,776         -            -              -         66,776 
Net unrealized loss on 
   marketable securities              -           -            -          -            (92,250)       -              -        (92,250)  
Net loss                              -           -            -          -              -       (21,59 6,364)       -    (21,596,364)  
                                ------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------  
Balance, December 31, 1996       10,931,408   $109, 314  $88,605,451   $(227,706)      $44,933  $(48,26 1,143)  $    -    $40,270,849 
                                 ==========   ===== ===  ===========   ==========      =======  ======= ======  =======   =========== 



KOPIN CORPORATION  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  

 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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                                                                 Years ended December 31, 
                                                        ---------------------------------------- 
                                                           1996           1995           1994 
                                                           ----           ----           ---- 
Cash flows from operating activities: 
  Net loss                                             ($21,596,364)   ($8,990,999)   ($6,694,257)  
  Adjusted to reconcile net loss to 
    net cash used in operating activities: 
    Depreciation and amortization                         3,499,881      2,956,322      2,043,943 
    Write-down of subsidiary assets                       3,900,000              -              - 
    Amortization of compensation relating to 
      grant of stock options                                 66,776        130,188        135,312 
    Non-recurring impairment charge                       4,990,412              -              - 
    Decrease in unearned revenue                            (92,004)       (92,004)       (92,004)  
    Increase (decrease) in deferred rent                     (7,667)        34,001        354,832 
    Gain on sale/leaseback of capital equipment                   -              -        (65,530)  
    Minority interest in loss of subsidiary              (1,223,589)             -              - 
    Changes in assets and liabilities: 
      Accounts receivable                                  (558,326)    (1,883,623)    (1,247,328)  
      Inventory                                           1,480,547     (3,033,333)    (1,214,769)  
      Prepaid expenses and other current assets            (126,536)      (861,003)      (175,369)  
      Intangible assets                                  (1,679,221)    (1,043,407)      (713,235)  
      Accounts payable and accrued expenses              (1,439,270)     1,356,571      3,436,911 
                                                       ------------   ------------    ----------- 
         Net cash used in operating activities          (12,785,361)   (11,427,287)    (4,231,494)  
                                                       ------------   ------------    ----------- 
Cash flows from investing activities: 
  Acquisition of Forte Technologies, Inc., net 
    of cash acquired                                              -     (1,504,704)             - 
  Marketable securities                                   6,625,889     10,368,699      5,828,751 
  Other assets                                              476,185        309,762     (3,748,096)  
  Capital expenditures                                   (3,779,919)    (3,755,147)    (4,481,290)  
                                                       ------------   ------------    ----------- 
         Net cash provided by (used in) 
           investing activities                           3,322,155      5,418,610     (2,400,635)  
                                                       ------------   ------------    ----------- 
Cash flows from financing activities: 
  Net proceeds from issuance of common stock                      -     30,436,672         66,250 
  Purchase of common stock                                        -     (4,095,000)             - 
  Net proceeds from issuance of subsidiary 
    preferred stock                                       1,800,000              -              - 
  Principal payments on long-term obligations              (924,421)      (605,143)      (503,411)  
  Proceeds from long-term obligations                     2,830,425              -      3,000,000 
  Proceeds from note payable                                500,000      3,000,000              - 
  Principal payments on note payable                     (3,000,000)             -              - 
  Proceeds from exercise of stock options                    50,470        102,900         64,707 
                                                       ------------   ------------    ----------- 
         Net cash provided by financing activities        1,256,474     28,839,429      2,627,546 
                                                       ------------   ------------    ----------- 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and equivalents          (8,206,732)    22,830,752     (4,004,583)  
Cash and equivalents, beginning of year                  24,718,023      1,887,271      5,891,854 
                                                       ------------   ------------    ----------- 
Cash and equivalents, end of year                       $16,511,291    $24,718,023     $1,887,271 
                                                       ============   ============    =========== 
 
Noncash investing and financing transactions: 
  Marketable securities valuation                          ($92,250)      $807,183      ($670,000)  
 
Supplementary cash flow information-Interest 
  paid in cash                                             $328,824       $339,642       $168,662 



KOPIN CORPORATION  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates. Significant estimates included within the financial statements include net realizable value of subsidiary assets, sales return reserves, 
warranty reserves, inventory reserves, allowances for doubtful accounts and the economic life of intangible assets.  

Industry Segment  
Kopin Corporation and its subsidiaries (the "Company") operate in one industry segment which includes the development, manufacture and 
sale of flat panel display devices and products and custom wafer-engineered electronic materials for commercial and consumer markets, and 
the performance of related research and development under contracts.  

Principles of Consolidation  
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned and majority owned subsidiaries. All 
intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated. From 1994 through 1996, the Company made equity investments in Forte 
Technologies, Inc. In May 1995, the Company obtained a controlling interest in Forte and has consolidated the financial statements of Forte 
with those of the Company since that date.  

Revenue Recognition  
Revenue is recognized when a product is shipped or when a service is performed. For certain of its products, the Company provides customers 
with a twelve month warranty from the date of sale. Estimated sales return and warranty reserves are provided at the time of sale based upon 
historical and anticipated warranty costs. Revenue from long-term contracts is recognized on the percentage-of- completion method of 
accounting as work is performed, based upon the ratio that incurred costs or hours bear to estimated total completion cost or hours. Product 
development and research contracts which have established prices for distinct phases are accounted for as if each phase were a separate 
contract. Amounts received under long-term contracts are recognized as revenue is earned, amounts earned on contracts in progress in excess of 
billings are classified as unbilled receivables, and amounts received in excess of amounts earned are classified as unearned revenue. Unbilled 
receivables are billed based on dates stipulated in the related agreement or in periodic installments based upon the Company's invoicing cycle. 
At the time a loss on a contract becomes known, the entire amount of the estimated ultimate loss is recognized in the financial statements.  

Research and Development Costs  
Research and development costs are charged to operations as incurred.  

Cash and Equivalents and Marketable Securities The Company considers all highly liquid, short-term debt instruments with a maturity of three 
months or less at the date of purchase to be cash equivalents.  

At December 31, 1996 and 1995, marketable securities consisted primarily of commercial paper, medium term notes, and United States 
government and agency securities. Under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 115, the Company classifies these 
marketable securities as "available for sale", and accordingly carries them as a current asset at market value. From time to time, the Company 
sells marketable securities for working capital, capital expenditure and investment purposes. Approximately $10,200,000 of these marketable 
securities mature within one year, and substantially all the remaining marketable securities mature within three years. Gross unrealized holding 
gains of $44,933 are recorded in a valuation allowance in stockholders' equity.  
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KOPIN CORPORATION  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS-(Continu ed)  

Inventory  
Inventory is stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out method) or market, and consists of the following:  

 

Equipment and Improvements  
Equipment and improvements are recorded at cost. Depreciation and amortization are provided using the straight-line method over the 
estimated lives of the assets or, in the case of leasehold improvements and leased equipment, over the term of the lease.  

Intangible Assets  
Amortization of intangible assets is on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives.  

Net Loss Per Share  
Net loss per share data is computed using the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period. Common 
share equivalents have not been included because the effect would be anti-dilutive.  

Concentration of Credit Risk  
The Company invests its excess cash in high quality government and corporate financial instruments which bear minimal risk. The Company 
sells its products to customers worldwide. The Company maintains a reserve for potential credit losses and such losses have been minimal.  

Fair Market Value of Financial Instruments Financial instruments consist of current assets (except inventories), current liabilities and long-term 
obligations. Current assets and current liabilities are carried at cost which approximates fair market value. Long-term obligations are stated at 
cost which approximates fair market value.  

Non-recurring Impairment Charge  
On January 1, 1996, the Company adopted SFAS No. 121, "Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Long-Lived Assets to be 
Disposed Of". This Statement establishes accounting standards for the carrying value of long-lived and certain identifiable intangible assets. In 
January 1996, the Company incurred a non-recurring charge of $4,990,412 which included a write-down of approximately $4,400,000 
associated with the initial adoption of SFAS No.121, the expensing of purchased technology, and the write-off of certain previously deferred 
expenses.  

Stock-Based Compensation  
The Company accounts for stock-based awards to employees using the intrinsic value method in accordance with APB No. 25, "Accounting for 
Stock Issued to Employees."  
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                                             1996                1995  
                                             ----                ----  
Raw materials                          $1,871,222          $3,148,467  
Work in process                         1,036,276           2,744,337  
Finished goods                            166,145             509,386  
                                       ----------          ----------  
                                       $3,073,643          $6,402,190  
                                       ==========          ==========  



KOPIN CORPORATION  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS-(Continu ed)  

2. Contracts  

The Company has entered into research and development contracts with various entities. The costs incurred in the performance of these 
contracts generally approximate the revenues earned thereon. In May 1994, the Company entered into a $10,658,000 thirty-month contract with 
an agency of the federal government. The Company recognizes revenue on this contract in accordance with performance of tasks and 
recognized revenue of $3,441,000 in 1996, $4,260,000 in 1995 and $2,465,000 in 1994.  

3. Other Assets  

Other assets consist primarily of certain marketable securities held in escrow as collateral under the Company's 5.625% equipment promissory 
note agreement.  

4. Intangible Assets  

Intangible assets consist of the following:  

 
5. Investment in Forte Technologies, Inc.  

Forte Technologies, Inc. was founded in July 1994. From October 1994 through December 31, 1996, Kopin made a series of equity 
investments in Forte totaling $5,750,000 resulting in an equity ownership of 59% at December 31, 1996.  

At December 31, 1996, Kopin had loans outstanding to Forte of $2,433,675. Additionally, in January 1996, Kopin guaranteed an aggregate of 
$1,000,000 of equipment and working capital loans of Forte made by a senior lender. All Kopin loans to Forte are subordinated to the loans of 
the senior lender. The balance of Forte's loans to the senior lender is $879,509 at December 31, 1996.  

As a result of declining sales and results of operations at Forte, the Company recorded in the fourth quarter of 1996 a write-down of Forte's 
assets to their estimated net realizable value and its remaining investment in Forte totaling $3,900,000.  
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                                                                 Estimated Useful 
                                                                   Life (years)         1996           1995 
                                                                   ------------         ----           ---- 
Patents and application fees                                            10           $1,868,481     $1 ,814,108 
Licenses                                                               5-12             881,424      1 ,630,036 
Costs in excess of fair value of net assets acquire d                    10                    -      1 ,259,423 
Organization and financing costs                                       1-5                    -        206,915 
Other deferred costs                                                   5-10               9,049        377,541 
                                                                                     ----------     -- -------- 
                                                                                      2,758,954      5 ,288,023 
Less accumulated amortization                                                          (864,562)    (1 ,108,146)  
                                                                                     ----------     -- -------- 
                                                                                     $1,894,392     $4 ,179,877 
                                                                                     ==========     == ======== 



KOPIN CORPORATION  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS-(Continu ed)  

6. Income Taxes  

As of December 31, 1996, the Company has available for tax reporting purposes, federal net operating loss and general business tax credit 
carryforwards of approximately $43,650,000 and $360,000, respectively, expiring from 2000 to 2011.  

Deferred taxes are provided to recognize the effect of temporary differences between tax and financial reporting. Deferred income tax assets 
and liabilities consist of the following:  

 
7. Note Payable and Long-term Obligations  

In 1996, the Company entered into a $500,000 demand note payable with a bank bearing interest at 1.75% above prime, or 10% at December 
31, 1996. The note is collateralized by certain assets of Forte. In 1995, the Company entered into a $3,000,000 demand note payable with a 
bank bearing interest at .5% above prime. The note was repaid in 1996.  

Long-term obligations consist of the following:  

 

The 5.625% equipment promissory note requires monthly payments of principal and interest totalling $57,477 through June 1999. The loan 
obligation is specifically collateralized by the equipment financed under the agreement and certain marketable securities. These securities are 
shown as other assets on the Company's balance sheet, since they are not available for working capital purposes.  
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                                           1996           1995 
                                           ----           ---- 
Deferred tax assets: 
 Net operating loss carryforward      $  17,900,600    $10,660,000 
 Amortization of intangible assets          255,600        272,700 
 Deferred rent                              156,300        159,400 
 Other                                      557,700        383,000 
                                      -------------     -----------  
                                         18,870,200     11,475,100 
                                      -------------     -----------  
Deferred tax liabilities: 
 Patent costs                               766,100        704,800 
 Depreciation                             1,107,500        984,900 
 Deferred financing costs                         -         92,000 
                                      -------------     -----------  
                                          1,873,600      1,781,700 
                                      -------------     -----------  
 Net deferred tax assets                 16,996,600      9,693,400 
 Valuation allowance                    (16,996,600 )   (9,693,400)  
                                      -------------     -----------  
                                      $           -    $          -  
                                      =============     ===========  

                                           1996           1995 
                                           ----           ---- 
 5.625% equipment promissory note       $1,605,050     $2,186,615  
 Capital lease obligations-equipment     1,200,000         48,078  
 8.19% equipment promissory note           611,224              -  
 9.02% equipment promissory note           379,509              -  
 Secured demand promissory note            344,914              -  
                                        ----------     ----------  
                                         4,140,697      2,234,693  
Less current portion                     1,347,636        629,643  
                                        ----------     ----------  
                                        $2,793,061     $1,605,050  
                                        ==========     ==========  



KOPIN CORPORATION  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS-(Continu ed)  

The equipment capital lease obligations require monthly payments of approximately $31,032 through June 2000 unless an early termination 
and equipment purchase option is exercised in December 1999. The capital lease obligations are specifically collateralized by equipment with a 
carrying value of $1,200,000 at December 31, 1996.  

The 8.19% and 9.02% equipment promissory notes require monthly payments of principal and interest totaling $26,680 and $16,708, 
respectively, through January 1999. The loan obligations are collateralized by the equipment financed under the agreements.  

The secured demand promissory note represents debt incurred by Forte to outside lenders. The promissory note is secured by all assets of Forte, 
subordinated to the loans of Forte's senior lender and certain loans to Kopin. The promissory note bears interest at 9%.  

The aggregate maturities of long-term obligations, including capital lease obligations, are as follows:  

 
8. Stockholders' Equity  

In November 1995, the Company entered into a stock purchase agreement with Telecom Holding Co., Ltd., an affiliate of CP Group, providing 
for the sale of 1,643,716 shares of its common stock at $16.50 per share. Net proceeds to the Company were approximately $26,724,000.  

In November 1995, the Company entered into an agreement with Rockwell International under which the Company purchased 300,000 shares 
of its common stock from Rockwell at $13.65 per share.  

In December 1995, the Company entered into a stock purchase agreement with United Microelectronics Corp. and its affiliate, Unipac 
Optoelectronics Corp., providing for the sale of 225,000 shares of its common stock at $16.50 per share. Net proceeds to the Company were 
approximately $3,700,000.  

9. Stock Options  

The Company's 1992 Stock Option Plan permits the granting of both nonqualified stock options and incentive stock options. The plan covers 
2,350,000 shares of common stock (including shares issued upon exercise of options granted pursuant to, or options remaining outstanding 
under, the 1985 Plan). The option price of incentive stock options shall not be less than 100%  

F-11  

Year ending December 31, 
                                                                        Amount 
- ------------------------------------------------- -------------------------------  
1997                                                                 $1,441,273 
 
1998                                                                  1,516,928 
 
1999                                                                    754,734 
 
2000                                                                    302,400 
 
2001                                                                    344,914 
                                                                   ------------ 
                                                                      4,360,249 
Less: 
 
   Amounts representing interest                                       (219,552) 
 
   Current portion of long-term obligations 
                                                                     (1,347,636) 
                                                                     ----------- 
 
                                                                      $2,793,061 
                                                                      ========== 



KOPIN CORPORATION  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS-(Continu ed)  

of the fair market value of the stock at the date of grant, or in the case of certain incentive stock options, at 110% of the fair market value at the 
time of the grant. Options must be exercised within a 10-year period or sooner if so specified within the option agreement. Options granted 
generally vest over four years.  

In 1994, the Company adopted the Director Stock Option Plan, which provides for the automatic granting, pursuant to a formula, of 
nonqualified stock options to the Company's non-employee directors. A maximum of 100,000 shares are issuable under the plan.  

During 1996, a total of 573,500 outstanding options were cancelled in exchange for the grant of 516,150 options with an exercise price equal to 
the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant of $8.25 per share. These options vest over four years. During 1995, a total of 
441,950 outstanding options were cancelled in exchange for the grant of 412,150 options with an exercise price equal to the fair market value 
of the common stock on the date of grant of $10.00 per share. These options vest over three years.  

For certain options granted, the Company recognizes as compensation expense the excess of the fair market value of the common shares 
issuable upon exercise of such options over the aggregate exercise price of such options. This compensation expense is amortized ratably over 
the vesting period of each option. For the year ended December 31, 1996, such compensation expense of $66,776 was recorded and will 
aggregate to $227,706 over the remaining terms of the options. At December 31, 1996, the Company has available 318,420 shares of common 
stock for future grant under its stock option plans. A summary of option activity is as follows:  

 

Of the 1,807,966 options outstanding at December 31, 1996, 592,287 have exercise prices between $5.00 and $9.00, with a weighted average 
exercise price of $8.20 and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 9.2 years. Of these options, 97,447 are exercisable at a weighted 
average price of $8.11. An additional 826,679 options outstanding at December 31, 1996 have exercise prices between $9.25 and $11.75, with 
a weighted average exercise price of $10.34 and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 8.3 years. Of these options, 255,277 are 
exercisable at a weighted average price of $10.43. The remaining 389,000 options have exercise prices between $12.00 and $17.25, with a 
weighted average exercise price of $14.20 and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 7.1 years. Of these options, 233,937 are 
exercisable at a weighted average exercise price of $14.03. The weighted average exercise price of all options exercisable at December 31, 
1996 is $11.48.  

The Company has two fixed option plans which reserve shares of common stock for issuance to executives, key employees and directors. The 
Company has adopted the disclosure-only provisions of SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation." Accordingly, no 
compensation cost has been recognized for the stock option plans. Had compensation cost for the Company's two stock option plans been 
determined based on the fair value at the grant date for awards in 1996 and 1995 consistent with the provisions of SFAS No. 123, the 
Company's net loss and loss per share would have been $22,828,070 or $2.09 per share in 1996 and $9,281,283 or $.98 per share in 1995.  
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                                               1996                             1995                            1994 
                                 ------------------ --------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------  
                                               Weig hted Average                Weighted Average                Weighted Average 
                                    Shares      Exe rcise Price      Shares      Exercise Price      Sh ares      Exercise Price 
                                 ------------------ --------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------  
Balance, beginning of year         1,560,326       $12.38          1,250,380       $13.23          697 ,138         $13.20 
   Options granted                 1,126,750         9.09            990,250        12.61          622 ,650          12.04 
   Options cancelled                (862,721)       12.47           (632,712)       15.18           (7 ,500)         12.93 
   Options exercised                 (16,389)        3.09            (47,592)        2.14          (61 ,908)          1.05 
                                 ------------------ --------------------------------------------------- -------------------------- 
Balance, end of year               1,807,966       $10.47          1,560,326       $12.38        1,250 ,380         $13.23 
                                   =========                       =========                     ===== ==== 
Exercisable, end of year             587,000                         446,000                       245 ,000 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS-(Continu ed)  

The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following 
assumptions used for grants in 1996 and 1995: no expected dividend yield; expected volatility of 61.2% in 1996 and 57.6% in 1995; risk-free 
interest rate of 6.55%; and expected lives of four years. The weighted-average fair value of options on grant date was $4.64 in 1996 and $6.65 
in 1995.  

10. Employee Benefit Plan  

The Company has an employee benefit plan pursuant to Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. The plan allows employees to defer up to 
15% of their annual compensation to a current maximum of $9,500. The Company will match 50% of all deferred compensation up to a 
maximum of 3% of each employee's annual compensation. The amount charged to operations in connection with this plan was approximately 
$92,000 in 1996, $69,000 in 1995, and $62,000 in 1994.  

11. Major Customers  

During the years ended December 31, 1996, 1995, and 1994, approximately 31%, 49%, and 71%, respectively, of the Company's revenues 
resulted from multiple contracts with various agencies of the United States government. These contracts are subject to termination at the 
election of the relevant agency. Additionally, during the year ended December 31, 1996, approximately 34% of the Company's revenue resulted 
from sales to a single customer.  

12. Commitments  

Leases  

The Company leases certain machinery and equipment, and its facilities located in Taunton and Westborough, Massachusetts, and Rochester, 
New York, under noncancelable operating leases. The Taunton lease expires in 1998 and has an option for a two-year extension. The 
Westborough lease, entered into in 1993, is a five-year lease with provisions to extend an additional six years. The Rochester lease covers a 
five-year period terminating in 2000. Substantially all real estate taxes, insurance and maintenance expenses under these leases are obligations 
of the Company. The following is a schedule of minimum rental commitments under noncancelable operating leases subsequent to December 
31, 1996:  

 

Costs incurred under operating leases are recorded as rent expense and aggregated approximately $1,214,000 in 1996, $1,137,000 in 1995, and 
$1,191,000 in 1994.  

Other Agreements  

The Company has entered into various license agreements which require the Company to pay royalties based upon a set percentage of product 
sales, subject, in some cases, to certain minimum amounts. Total royalty expense approximated $25,500 in 1996, $36,000 in 1995, and $29,700 
in 1994.  

13. Subsequent Event  

On March 7, 1997, the Company's subsidiary, Forte Technologies, Inc., filed a voluntary petition seeking protection from its creditors under 
Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code. The Company does not believe this will have a material adverse effect on its financial 
condition or results of operation.  
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 Year ending December 31,                                              Amount 
- ------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------  
 1997                                                                $1,355,285 
 
 1998                                                                 1,133,518 
 
 1999                                                                   164,768 
 
 2000                                                                    27,461 
                                                                     ---------- 
Total minimum lease payments                                         $2,681,032 
                                                                     ========== 



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT  

Board of Directors and Stockholders  
Kopin Corporation  
Taunton, Massachusetts  

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Kopin Corporation and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 1996 and 1995, and for each 
of the three years in the period ended December 31, 1996, and have issued our report thereon dated February 10, 1997 (March 7, 1997 as to 
Note 13); such financial statements and report are included elsewhere in this Form 10-K. Our audits also included the consolidated financial 
statement schedule of Kopin Corporation and Subsidiaries listed in Item 14 of this Form 10-K. This consolidated financial statement schedule 
is the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion based on our audits. In our opinion, such 
consolidated financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents 
fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.  

 

KOPIN CORPORATION  

SCHEDULE II - VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS  

Years Ended December 31, 1996, 1995, 1994  

 

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP 
 
Deloitte & Touche LLP 
Boston, Massachusetts 
February 10, 1997 (March 7, 1997 as to Note 13) 

                                  Balance at  Addit ions   Deductions  Balance at  
                                  Beginning   Charg ed to     from        End 
Description                        of Year      Inc ome      Reserve    of Year 
                                   -------      --- ---      -------    ------- 
Reserve deducted from assets-- 
allowance for doubtful accounts: 
             1994                  $28,000     $24, 000      ($5,400)   $46,600 
             1995                   46,600      39, 000          -       85,600 
             1996                   85,600      72, 000      (20,200)   137,400 



SIGNATURES  

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be 
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.  

 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of 
the Registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated.  

 

March 28, 1997                           KOPIN CORPORATION 
 
 
                                         By: /s/ John C. C. Fan 
                                             ----------------------------- 
                                                     John C. C. Fan 
                                         Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive 
                                              Officer, President and Director 

         Signature                  Title                        Date 
         ---------                  -----                        ---- 
 
 /s/ John C. C. Fan          Chairman of the Board,            March 28,1997 
 ----------------------      Chief Executive Office r, 
     John C. C. Fan           President and Directo r 
                             (principal executive o fficer) 
 
/s/ David E. Brook           Director                         March 28, 1997  
- ----------------------- 
    David E. Brook 
 
 
/s/ Morton Collins           Director                         March 28, 1997  
- ----------------------- 
    Morton Collins 
 
 
/s/ Andrew H. Chapman        Director                         March 28, 1997  
- ----------------------- 
    Andrew H. Chapman 
 
 
/s/ Anthony B. Evnin         Director                         March 28, 1997  
- ----------------------- 
    Anthony B. Evnin 
 
 
/s/ Chi Chia Hsieh           Director                         March 28, 1997  
- ----------------------- 
    Chi Chia Hsieh 
 
 
/s/ Vallobh Vimolvanich      Director                         March 28, 1997  
- ----------------------- 
    Vallobh Vimolvanich 
 
 
/s/ Michael A. Wall          Director                         March 28, 1997  
- ----------------------- 
    Michael A. Wall 
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EXHIBIT 10.3  
Kopin Corporation  

1992 Stock Option Plan  

Amendment  

Kopin Corporation (the "Company"), pursuant to authority reserved in Section 18 of the 1992 Stock Option Plan of the Company (the "1992 
Plan"), hereby amends the 1992 Plan as follows:  

Effective as of November 8, 1996, Section 13 of the 1992 Plan is deleted in its entirety and is replaced with the following:  

13. Transferability of Options. Options shall not be transferable, otherwise by will or the laws of descent and distribution, and may be exercised 
during the life of the Optionee only by the Optionee and except as otherwise provided hereinbelow. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the 
Committee may, in its discretion, authorize all or a portion of the options to be granted to an optionee to be on terms which permit transfer by 
such Optionee to (i) the spouse, former spouse, children (including stepchildren) or grandchildren of the optionee ("Immediate Family 
Members"), (ii) a trust or trusts for the exclusive benefit of such Immediate Family Members, (iii) a partnership in which such Immediate 
Family Members are the only partners including family limited partnerships controlled by the Optionee or (iv) to any other persons or entities 
in the discretion of the Committee, provided that (x) the stock option agreement pursuant to which such options are granted much be approved 
by the Committee, and must expressly provide for transferability in a manner consistent with this Section 13, and (y) subsequent transfers of 
transferred options shall be prohibited except those in accordance with this  
Section 13 (by will or the laws of descent and distribution). Following transfer, any such options shall continue to be subject to the same terms 
and conditions as were applicable immediately prior to transfer, provided that for purposes of Section 13 hereof the term "Optionee" shall be 
deemed to refer to the transferee. The events of termination of employment of Section 14 hereof shall continue to be applied with respect to the 
original Optionee, following which the options shall be exercisable by the transferee only to the extent, and for the periods specified at Section 
14.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has adopted this Amendment as of the 15/th/ day of November, 1996 to be effective as hereinabove 
provided.  

KOPIN CORPORATION  

 

BY: /s/John C. C. Fan 
 
   ---------------------- 



EXHIBIT 10.54  

[BancBoston Logo] BancBoston Leasing  

MASTER LEASE AGREEMENT  

This MASTER LEASE AGREEMENT, dated as of the 23rd day of December, 1996, ("Lease Agreement") is made at Boston, Massachusetts 
by and between BancBoston Leasing Inc. ("Lessor"), a Massachusetts corporation with its principal place of business at 100 Federal Street, 
Boston, Massachusetts 02110 and Kopin Corporation ("Lessee"), a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business at 695 Myles 
Standish Boulevard, Taunton. Masssachusetts 02780. IN CONSIDERATION OF the mutual promises and covenants contained herein, Lessor 
and Lessee hereby agree as follows:  

1. Property Leased. At the request of Lessee and subject to the terms and conditions of this Lease Agreement, Lessor shall lease to Lessee and 
Lessee shall lease from Lessor such personal property ("Equipment") as may be mutually agreed upon by Lessor and Lessee. The Equipment 
shall be selected by or ordered at the request of Lessee, identified in one or more equipment schedules substantially in the form of Exhibit A 
attached hereto ("Equipment Schedule") and accepted by Lessee in one or more certificates of acceptance ("Certificate of Acceptance") in the 
form of Exhibit B attached hereto. Each Equipment Schedule executed by Lessor and Lessee and each Certificate of Acceptance executed by 
Lessee shall constitute a part of this Lease Agreement.  

2. Certain Definitions.  

2.1 The "Acquisition Cost" shall mean the total cost of the Equipment paid by Lessor as set forth in the applicable Equipment Schedule.  

2.2 The "Commencement Date" shall mean the date on which the Equipment identified in the applicable Equipment Schedule is accepted and 
placed in service by Lessee under this Lease Agreement. Each Commencement Date shall be evidenced by the Certificate of Acceptance 
applicable to such Equipment Schedule.  

2.3 The "Rent Start Date" shall mean either (i) the first day of the month following the month in which the Commencement Date occurs or (ii) 
the Commencement Date, if the Commencement Date occurs on the first day of the month.  

2.4 The "Monthly Rent" shall mean the amount set forth in the applicable Equipment Schedule as Monthly Rent for the Equipment identified 
on such Equipment Schedule.  

2.5 The "Daily Rent" shall mean one-thirtieth (1/30) of the Monthly Rent.  

2.6 The words "herein", "hereof", and "hereunder" shall refer to this Lease Agreement as a whole and not to any particular section. All other 
capitalized terms defined in this Lease Agreement shall have the meanings assigned thereto.  

3. Initial Term of Lease; Payment of Rent.  

3.1 The term of lease for the Equipment ("Initial Term") shall begin on the Commencement Date set forth in the applicable Certificate of 
Acceptance and shall continue during and until the expiration of the number of full calendar months set forth in the applicable Equipment 
Schedule, measured from the Rent Start Date. The Initial Term may not be cancelled or terminated except as set forth in Section 10.2 below.  

3.2 At the expiration of the Initial Term, Lessor and Lessee may extend the lease of the Equipment for any period as they may agree upon in 
writing ("Extended Term") at the then fair market rental value of the Equipment, as determined in good faith by Lessor.  

3.3 Aggregate Daily Rent shall be due and payable by Lessee on the Rent Start Date in an amount equal to the Daily Rent multiplied by the 
actual number of days elapsed from, and including, the Commencement Date to, but excluding, the Rent Start Date. The Monthly Rent shall be 
due and payable on the Rent Start Date and, thereafter on the first day of each month of the Initial Term or any Extended Term. All Daily Rents 
and Monthly Rents shall be paid to Lessor at its office in Boston, Massachusetts.  
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4. Acceptance of Equipment; Exclusion of Warranties.  

4.1 Lessee shall signify its acceptance of the Equipment identified in the applicable Equipment Schedule by promptly executing and delivering 
to Lessor a Certificate of Acceptance. Lessee acknowledges that its execution and delivery of the Certificate of Acceptance shall conclusively 
establish, as between Lessor and Lessee, that the Equipment has been inspected by Lessee, is in good repair and working order, is of the design. 
manufacture and capacity selected by Lessee, and is accepted by Lessee under this Lease Agreement.  

4.2 In the event the Equipment is ordered by Lessor from a manufacturer or supplier at the request of Lessee, Lessor shall not be required to 
pay the Acquisition Cost for such Equipment unless and until the applicable Certificate of Acceptance has been received by Lessor. Lessee 
hereby agrees to indemnify, defend and hold Lessor harmless from any liability to any manufacturer or supplier arising from the failure of 
Lessee to lease any Equipment which is ordered by Lessor at the request of Lessee or for which Lessor has assumed an obligation to purchase.  

4.3 Lessor leases the Equipment to Lessee and Lessee leases the Equipment from Lessor "AS IS" and "WITH ALL FAULTS". Lessee hereby 
acknowledges that (i) Lessor is not a manufacturer, supplier or dealer of such Equipment nor an agent thereof; and (ii) LESSOR HAS NOT 
MADE, DOES NOT MAKE, AND HEREBY DISCLAIMS ANY REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY WHATSOEVER, EXPRESS OR 
IMPLIED, WITH RESPECT TO THE EQUIPMENT INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, ITS DESIGN, CAPACITY, CONDITION, 
MERCHANTABILITY, OR FITNESS FOR USE OR FOR ANY PARTICULAR PURPOSE. Lessee further acknowledges that Lessor is not 
responsible for any repairs, maintenance, service, latent or other defects in the Equipment or in the operation thereof, or for compliance of any 
Equipment with requirements of any laws, ordinances, governmental rules or regulations including, but not limited to, laws with respect to 
environmental matters, patent, trademark, copyright or trade secret infringement, or for any direct or consequential damages arising out of the 
use of or inability to use the Equipment.  

4.4 Provided no Event of Default, as defined in Section 16 below, has occurred and is continuing, Lessor agrees to cooperate with Lessee, at 
the sole cost and expense of Lessee, in making any claim against a manufacturer or supplier of the Equipment arising from a defect in such 
Equipment. At the request of Lessee, Lessor shall assign to Lessee all warranties on the Equipment available from any manufacturer or supplier 
to the full extent permitted by the terms of such warranties and by applicable law.  

5. Ownership; Inspection; Maintenance and Use.  

5.1 The Equipment shall at all times be the sole and exclusive property of Lessor. Any Equipment subject to titling and registration laws shall 
be titled and registered by Lessee on behalf of and in the name of Lessor at the sole cost and expense of Lessee. Lessee shall cooperate with 
and provide Lessor with any information or documents necessary for titling and registration of the Equipment. Upon the request of Lessor, 
Lessee shall execute any documents or instruments which may be necessary or appropriate to confirm, to record or to give notice of the 
ownership of the Equipment by Lessor including, but not limited to, financing statements under the Uniform Commercial Code. Lessee, at the 
request of Lessor, shall affix to the Equipment, in a conspicuous place, any label, plaque or other insignia supplied by Lessor designating the 
ownership of the Equipment by Lessor.  

5.2 The Equipment shall be located at the address specified in the applicable Equipment Schedule and shall not be removed therefrom without 
the prior written consent of Lessor. Lessor, its agents or employees shall have the right to enter the premises of Lessee, upon reasonable notice 
and during normal business hours, for the purpose of inspecting the Equipment.  

5.3 Lessee shall pay all costs, expenses, fees and charges whatsoever incurred in connection with the use and operation of the Equipment. 
Lessee shall, at all times and at its own expense, keep the Equipment in good repair and working order, reasonable wear and tear excepted. Any 
maintenance contract required by a manufacturer or supplier for the care and upkeep of the Equipment shall be entered into by Lessee at its sole 
cost and expense. Lessee shall permit the use and operation of the Equipment only by personnel authorized by Lessee and shall comply with all 
laws, ordinances or governmental rules and regulations relating to the use and operation of the Equipment.  

6. Alterations and Modifications. Lessee may make, or cause to be made on its behalf, any improvement, modification or addition to the 
Equipment with the prior written consent of Lessor, provided, however, that such improvement, modification or addition is readily removable 
without causing damage to or impairment of the functional effectiveness of the Equipment. To the extent that such improvement, modification 
or addition is not so removable, it shall immediately become the property of Lessor and thereupon shall be considered Equipment for all 
purposes of this Lease Agreement.  
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7. Quiet Enjoyment; No Defense, Set-Offs or Counterclaims.  

7.1 Provided no Event of Default, as defined in Section 16 below, has occurred and is continuing, Lessee shall have the quiet enjoyment and 
use of the Equipment in the ordinary course of its business during the Initial Term or any Extended Term without interruption by Lessor or any 
person or entity claiming through or under Lessor.  

7.2 Lessee acknowledges and agrees that ANY DAMAGE TO OR LOSS, DESTRUCTION, OR UNFITNESS OF, OR DEFECT IN THE 
EQUIPMENT, OR THE INABILITY OF LESSEE TO USE THE EQUIPMENT FOR ANY REASON WHATSOEVER, SHALL NOT (i) 
GIVE RISE TO ANY DEFENSE, COUNTERCLAIM, OR RIGHT OF SET-OFF AGAINST LESSOR, OR (ii) PERMIT ANY ABATEMENT 
OR RECOUPMENT OF, OR REDUCTION IN DAILY OR MONTHLY RENT, OR (iii) RELIEVE LESSEE OF THE PERFORMANCE OF 
ITS OBLIGATIONS UNDER THIS LEASE AGREEMENT INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, ITS OBLIGATION TO PAY THE 
FULL AMOUNT OF DAILY RENT AND MONTHLY RENT, WHICH OBLIGATIONS ARE ABSOLUTE AND UNCONDITIONAL, 
unless and until this Lease Agreement is terminated with respect to such Equipment in accordance with the provisions of Section 10.2 below. 
Any claim that Lessee may have which arises from a defect in or deficiency of the Equipment shall be brought solely against the manufacturer 
or supplier of the Equipment and Lessee shall, notwithstanding any such claim, continue to pay Lessor all amounts due and to become due 
under this Lease Agreement.  

8. Adverse Claims and Interests.  

8.1 Except for any liens, claims, mortgages, pledges, encumbrances or security interests created by Lessor, Lessee shall keep the Equipment, at 
all times, free and clear from all liens, claims, mortgages, pledges, encumbrances and security interests and from all levies, seizures and 
attachments. Without limitation of the covenants and obligations of Lessee set forth in the preceding sentence, Lessee shall immediately notify 
Lessor in writing of the imposition of any prohibited lien, claim, levy or attachment on or seizure of the Equipment at which time Lessee shall 
provide Lessor with all relevant information in connection therewith.  

8.2 Lessee agrees that the Equipment shall be and at all times shall remain personal property. Accordingly, Lessee shall take such steps as may 
be necessary to prevent any person from acquiring, having or retaining any rights in or to the Equipment by reason of its being affixed or 
attached to real property.  

9. Indemnities; Payment of Taxes.  

9.1 Lessee hereby agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless Lessor, its agents, employees, successors and assigns from and against any 
and all claims, actions, suits, proceedings, costs, expenses, damages and liabilities whatsoever arising out of or in connection with the 
manufacture, ordering, selection, specifications, availability, delivery, titling, registration, rejection, installation, possession, maintenance, 
ownership, use, leasing, operation or return of the Equipment including, but not limited to, any claim or demand based upon any STRICT OR 
ABSOLUTE LIABILITY IN TORT and upon any infringement or alleged infringement of any patent, trademark, trade secret, license, 
copyright or otherwise. All costs and expenses incurred by Lessor in connection with any of the foregoing including, but not limited to, 
reasonable legal fees, shall be paid by Lessee on demand.  

9.2 Lessee hereby agrees to indemnify, defend and hold Lessor harmless against all Federal, state and local taxes, assessments, licenses, 
withholdings, levies, imposts, duties, assessments, excise taxes, registration fees and other governmental fees and charges whatsoever, which 
are imposed, assessed or levied on or with respect to the Equipment or its use or related in any way to this Lease Agreement ("Tax 
Assessments"), except for taxes on or measured by the net income of Lessor determined substantially in the same manner as under the Internal 
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. Lessee shall file all returns, reports or other such documents required in connection with the Tax 
Assessments and shall provide Lessor with copies thereof. If, under local law or custom, Lessee is not authorized to make the filings required 
by a taxing authority, Lessee shall notify Lessor in writing and Lessor shall thereupon file such returns, reports or documents. Without limiting 
any of the foregoing, Lessee shall indemnify, defend and hold Lessor harmless from all penalties, fines, interest payments, claims and expenses 
including, but not limited to, reasonable legal fees, arising from any failure of Lessee to comply with the requirements of this Section 9.2.  

9.3 The obligations and indemnities of Lessee under this Section 9 for events occurring or arising during the Initial Term or any Extended 
Term shall continue in full force and effect, notwithstanding the expiration or other termination of this Lease Agreement.  
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10. Risk of Loss; Loss of Equipment.  

10.1 Lessee hereby assumes and shall bear the entire risk of loss for theft, damage, seizure, condemnation, destruction or other injury 
whatsoever to the Equipment from any and every cause whatsoever. Such risk of loss shall be deemed to have been assumed by Lessee from 
and after such risk passes from the manufacturer or supplier by agreement or pursuant to applicable law.  

10.2 In the event of any loss, seizure, condemnation or destruction of the Equipment or damage to the Equipment which cannot be repaired by 
Lessee, Lessee shall immediately notify Lessor in writing. Within thirty (30) days of such notice, during which time Lessee shall continue to 
pay Monthly Rent, Lessee shall, at the option of Lessor, either (i) replace the Equipment with equipment of the same type and manufacture and 
in good repair, condition and working order, transfer title to such equipment to Lessor free and clear of all liens, claims and encumbrances, 
whereupon such equipment shall be deemed Equipment for all purposes of this Lease Agreement, or (ii) pay to Lessor an amount equal to the 
present value of both the aggregate of the remaining unpaid Monthly Rents and the anticipated residual value of the Equipment plus any other 
costs actually incurred by Lessor. Lessor and Lessee agree that the residual value of the Equipment at the expiration of the Initial Term is 
reasonably anticipated to be not less than twenty (20) percent of the Acquisition Cost of the Equipment. The present value shall be determined 
by discounting the aggregate of the remaining unpaid Monthly Rents and the anticipated residual value of the Equipment to the date of payment 
by Lessee at the rate of five (5) percent per annum. When and as requested by Lessor, Lessee shall also pay to Lessor amounts due pursuant to 
Section 18 below, if any, arising as a result of the loss, seizure, replacement, condemnation or destruction of the Equipment. Any insurance or 
condemnation proceeds received by Lessor shall be credited to the obligation of Lessee under this Section 10.2 and the remainder of such 
proceeds, if any, shall be paid to Lessee by Lessor in full compensation for the loss of the leasehold interest in the Equipment by Lessee.  

10.3 Upon any replacement of or payment for the Equipment as provided in  
Section 10.2 above, this Lease Agreement shall terminate only with respect to the Equipment so replaced or paid for, and Lessor shall transfer 
to Lessee title only to such Equipment "AS IS," "WITH ALL FAULTS", and WITH NO WARRANTIES  
WHATSOEVER, EITHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY WARRANTIES OF 
MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR USE OR FOR ANY PARTICULAR PURPOSE. Lessee shall pay any sales or use taxes due on 
such transfer.  

11. Insurance.  

11.1 Lessee shall keep the Equipment insured against all risks of loss or damage from every cause whatsoever occurring during the Initial 
Term, or any Extended Term for an amount not less than the higher of the full replacement value of the Equipment or the aggregate of unpaid 
Daily Rent and Monthly Rent for the balance of the Initial Term, or the Extended Term. Lessee shall also carry public liability insurance, both 
personal injury and property damage, covering the Equipment, and Lessee shall be liable for any deductible portions of all required insurance.  

11.2 All insurance required under this Section 11 shall name Lessor as additional insured and loss payee. Such insurance shall also be with 
such insurers and shall be in such forms and amounts as are satisfactory to Lessor. All applicable policies shall provide that no act, omission or 
breach of warranty by Lessee shall give rise to any defense against payment of the insurance proceeds to Lessor. Lessee shall pay the premiums 
for such insurance and, at the request of Lessor, deliver to Lessor duplicates of such policies or other evidence satisfactory to Lessor of such 
insurance coverage. In any event, Lessee shall provide Lessor with endorsements upon the policies issued by the insurers which evidence the 
existence of insurance coverage required by this  
Section 11 and by which the insurers agree to give Lessor written notice at least twenty (20) days prior to the effective date of any expiration, 
modification, reduction, termination or cancellation of any such policies.  

11.3 The proceeds of insurance required under this Section 11 and payable as a result of loss or damage to the Equipment shall be applied as set 
forth in  
Section 10.2 above. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default as defined in  
Section 16 below, Lessee hereby irrevocably appoints Lessor as its attorney-in- fact, which power shall be deemed coupled with an interest, to 
make claim for, receive payment of, execute and endorse all documents, checks or drafts received in payment for loss or damage under any 
insurance policies required by this  
Section 11.  

11.4 Notwithstanding anything herein, Lessor shall not be under any duty to examine any evidence of insurance furnished hereunder, or to 
ascertain the existence of any policy or coverage, or to advise Lessee of any failure to comply with the provisions of this Section 11.  

12. Surrender To Lessor. Immediately upon the expiration of the Initial Term or any Extended Term or at any other termination of this Lease 
Agreement, Lessee shall surrender the Equipment to Lessor in good repair and working order, reasonable wear and tear excepted, by 
assembling and delivering the Equipment, ready for shipment, to a place or carrier, as  
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Lessor may designate, within the state in which the Equipment was originally delivered to Lessee or to which the Equipment was thereafter 
moved with the written consent of Lessor. All costs of removal, assembly, packing and delivery of such Equipment to the place designated by 
Lessor shall be borne by Lessee.  

13. Fair Market Value Purchase Option. Lessor hereby grants to Lessee the option to purchase all, but not less than all, Equipment set forth on 
any Equipment Schedule at the expiration of the applicable Initial Term or Extended Term. Any such purchase shall be for cash in an amount 
equal to the then fair market value of such Equipment, as determined in good faith by Lessor. This purchase option may be exercised by 
Lessee, provided that no Event of Default, as defined in Section 16 below, has occurred and is continuing. Lessee shall notify Lessor in writing 
of its intention to exercise its purchase option at least thirty (30) days prior to the expiration of the Initial Term or any Extended Term. Upon 
payment of the fair market value by Lessee to Lessor, Lessor shall transfer title to the Equipment to Lessee "AS IS", `WITH ALL FAULTS", 
and WITH NO WARRANTIES WHATSOEVER, EITHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY 
WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR USE OR FOR ANY PARTICULAR PURPOSE.  

14. Financial Statements. Lessee shall annually, within ninety (90) days after the close of the fiscal year for Lessee. furnish to Lessor financial 
statements of Lessee, including a balance sheet as of the close of such year and statements of income and retained earnings for such year, 
prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, consistently applied from year to year, and certified by independent 
public accountants for Lessee. If requested by Lessor, Lessee shall also provide quarterly financial statements of Lessee, similarly prepared for 
each of the first three quarters of each fiscal year, certified (subject to normal year-end audit adjustments) by the chief financial officer of 
Lessee and furnished to Lessor within sixty (60) days following the end of the quarter, and such other financial information as may be 
reasonably requested by Lessor.  

15. Delayed Payment Charge. Lessee shall pay to Lessor interest upon the amount of any Daily Rent, Monthly Rent or other sums not paid by 
Lessee when due and owing under this Lease Agreement, from me due date thereof until paid, at the rate of one and one half (1-1/2) percent per 
month, but if such rate violates applicable law, then the maximum rate of interest allowed by such law.  

16. Default.  

16.1 The occurrence of any of the following events shall constitute an event of default ("Event of Default") under this Lease Agreement.  

(a) Lessee fails to pay any Daily Rent or any Monthly Rent when due and such failure to pay continues for ten (10) consecutive days; or  

(b) Lessee fails to pay any other sum required hereunder, and such failure continues for a period of ten (10) days following written notice from 
Lessor; or  

(c) Lessee fails to maintain the insurance as required by Section 11 above and such failure continues for ten (10) days after written notice from 
Lessor; or  

(d) Lessee violates or fails to perform any other term, covenant or condition of this Lease Agreement or any other document, agreement or 
instrument executed pursuant hereto or in connection herewith, which failure is not cured within thirty (30) days after written notice from 
Lessor; or  

(e) Lessee ceases to exist or terminates its independent operations by reason of any discontinuance, dissolution, liquidation, merger, sale of 
substantially all of its assets, or otherwise ceases doing business as a going concern; or  

(f) Lessee (i) applies for or consents to the appointment of, or the taking of possession by, a receiver, custodian, trustee, liquidator or similar 
official for itself or for all or a substantial part of its property, (ii) is generally not paying its debts as such debts become due, (iii) makes a 
general assignment for the benefit of its creditors, (iv) commences a voluntary case under the United States Bankruptcy Code, as now or 
hereafter in effect, seeking liquidation, reorganization or other relief with respect to itself or its debts,  
(v) files a petition seeking to take advantage of any other law providing for the relief of debtors, (vi) takes any action under the laws of its 
jurisdiction of incorporation or organization similar to any of the foregoing, or (vii) takes any corporate action for the purpose of effecting any 
of the foregoing; or  

(g) A proceeding or case is commenced, without the application or consent of Lessee, in any court of competent jurisdiction, seeking (i) the 
liquidation, reorganization, dissolution, winding up of Lessee or composition or readjustment of the debts of Lessee, (ii) the appointment of a 
trustee, receiver, custodian, liquidator or similar official for Lessee or for all or any  
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substantial part of its assets, or (iii) similar relief with respect to Lessee under any law providing for the relief of debtors; or an order for relief 
is entered with respect to Lessee in an involuntary case under the United States Bankruptcy Code, as now or hereafter in effect, or an action 
under me laws of the jurisdiction of incorporation or organization of Lessee, similar to any of the foregoing, is taken with respect to Lessee 
without its application or consent; or  

(h) Lessee makes any representation or warranty herein or in any statement or certificate at any time given in writing pursuant to or in 
connection with this Lease Agreement, which is false or misleading in any material respect; or  

(i) Lessee defaults under any promissory note, credit agreement, loan agreement, conditional sales contract, guaranty, lease, indenture, bond, 
debenture or other material obligation whatsoever, and a party thereto or a holder thereof is entitled to accelerate the obligations of Lessee 
thereunder; or Lessee defaults in meeting any of its trade, tax or other current obligations as they mature, unless such obligations are being 
contested diligently and in good faith; or  

(j) Any party to any guaranty, letter of credit, subordination or credit agreement or other undertaking, given for the benefit of Lessor and 
obtained in connection with this Lease Agreement, breaches, fails to continue, contests, or purports to terminate or to disclaim such guaranty, 
letter of credit, subordination or credit agreement or other undertaking; or such guaranty, letter of credit, subordination agreement or other 
undertaking becomes unenforceable; or a guarantor of this Lease Agreement shall die, cease to exist or terminate its independent operations.  

16.2 No waiver by Lessor of any Event of Default shall constitute a waiver of any other Event of Default or of the same Event of Default at any 
other time.  

17. Remedies.  

17.1 Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default and while such Event of Default is continuing, Lessor, at its sole option, upon its declaration, 
and to the extent not inconsistent with applicable law, may exercise any one or more of the following remedies:  

(a) Lessor may terminate this Lease Agreement whereupon all rights of Lessee to the quiet enjoyment and use of the Equipment shall cease;  

(b) Whether or not this Lease Agreement is terminated, Lessor may cause Lessee, at the sole cost and expense of Lessee, to return any or all of 
the Equipment promptly to the possession of Lessor in good repair and working order, reasonable wear and tear excepted. Lessor, at its sole 
option and through its employees, agents or contractors, may peaceably enter upon the premises where the Equipment is located and take 
immediate possession of and remove the Equipment, all without liability to Lessor, its employees, agents or contractors for such entry. 
LESSEE HEREBY WAIVES, TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY AND ALL RIGHTS TO NOTICE AND/OR 
HEARING PRIOR TO THE REPOSSESSION OR REPLEVIN OF THE EQUIPMENT BY LESSOR, ITS EMPLOYEES, AGENTS OR 
CONTRACTORS;  

(c) Lessor may proceed by court action to enforce performance by Lessee of this Lease Agreement or pursue any other remedy Lessor may 
have hereunder, at law, in equity or under any applicable statute, and recover such other actual damages as may be incurred by Lessor;  

(d) Lessor may recover from Lessee damages, not as a penalty but as liquidation for all purposes and without limitation of any other amounts 
due from Lessee under this Lease Agreement, in an amount equal to the sum of (i) any unpaid Daily Rents and/or Monthly Rents due and 
payable for periods prior to the repossession of the Equipment by Lessor plus any interest due thereon pursuant to Section 15 above, (ii) the 
present value of all future Monthly Rents required to be paid over the remaining Initial Term or any Extended Term after repossession of the 
Equipment by Lessor, determined by discounting such future Monthly Rents to the date of payment by Lessee at a rate of five (5) percent per 
annum, and (iii) all costs and expenses incurred in searching for, taking, removing, storing, repairing, restoring, refurbishing and leasing or 
selling such Equipment; or  

(e) Lessor may sell, lease or otherwise dispose of any or all of the Equipment, whether or not in the possession of Lessor, at public or private 
sale and with or without notice to Lessee, which notice is hereby expressly waived by Lessee, to the extent permitted by and not inconsistent 
with applicable law. Lessor shall then apply against the obligations of Lessee hereunder the net proceeds of such sale, lease or other 
disposition, after deducting therefrom (i) the present value of the residual value of the Equipment at the expiration of the Initial Term, which is 
anticipated by Lessor and Lessee to be not less than twenty (20) percent of the Acquisition Cost, such present value to be determined by 
discounting the residual value to the date of sale, lease or other disposition at a rate of five (5) percent per annum, and (ii) all costs incurred by 
Lessor in connection with such sale, lease or other disposition including, but not limited to, costs of transportation, repossession, storage, 
refurbishing, advertising or other fees.  
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Lessee shall remain liable for any deficiency, and any excess of such proceeds over the total obligations owed by Lessee shall be retained by 
Lessor. If any notice of such sale, lease or other disposition of the Equipment is required by applicable law, ten (10) days written notice to 
Lessee shall be deemed reasonable.  

17.2 No failure on the part of Lessor to exercise, and no delay in exercising, any right or remedy hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof. 
No single or partial exercise of any right or remedy hereunder shall preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other 
right or remedy. Each right and remedy provided hereunder is cumulative and not exclusive of any other right or remedy including, without 
limitation, any right or remedy available to Lessor at law, by statute or in equity.  

17.3 Lessee shall pay all costs and expenses including, but not limited to, reasonable legal fees incurred by Lessor arising out of or in 
connection with any Event of Default or this Lease Agreement. Lessee shall also be liable for any amounts due and payable to Lessor under 
any other provision of this Lease Agreement including, but not limited to, amounts due and payable under Section 18 below.  

18. Tax Indemnification.  

18.1 Lessee represents and warrants that the Equipment is and will remain, during the entire Initial Term and any Extended Term, property 
used in a trade or business or for the production of income within the meaning of Section 167 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as 
amended ("Code"). Lessee further acknowledges and agrees that, pursuant to the Code, Lessor or its affiliated group, as defined in Section 
1504 of the Code ("Affiliated Group"), shall be entitled to deductions for the recovery of the Acquisition Cost of the Equipment over the 
recovery period as set forth in the applicable Equipment Schedule, using the Accelerated Cost Recovery System as provided by Section 168 (b) 
(1) of the Code ("ACRS Deductions").  

18.2 If as a result of any reason or circumstance whatsoever, except as specifically set forth in Section 18.3 below, Lessor or its Affiliated 
Group shall not be entitled to, shall not be allowed, shall suffer recapture of or shall lose any ACRS Deductions, then Lessee shall pay to 
Lessor, upon demand, a sum to be computed by Lessor in the following manner. Such sum, after deduction of all federal, state and local 
income taxes payable by Lessor as a result of the receipt of such sum, shall be sufficient to restore Lessor or its Affiliated Group to 
substantially the same position, on an after-tax basis, as it would have been in but for the loss of such ACRS Deductions. In making its 
computation, Lessor or its Affiliated Group shall consider, but shall not be limited to, the following factors: (i) the amounts and timing of any 
net loss of tax benefits resulting from any such lack of entitlement to or loss, recapture, or disallowance of ACRS Deductions but offset by any 
tax benefits derived from any depreciation or other capital recovery deductions or exclusions from income allowed to Lessor or its Affiliated 
Group with respect to the same Equipment;  
(ii) penalties, interest or other charges imposed; (iii) differences in tax years involved; and (iv) the time value of money at a reasonable rate 
determined, in good faith, by Lessor. For purposes of computation only, the amount of indemnification payments hereunder shall be calculated 
on the assumption that Lessor and its Affiliated Group have or will have, in all tax years involved, sufficient taxable income and the tax 
liability to realize all tax benefits and incur all losses of tax benefits at the highest marginal Federal corporate income tax rate in each year. 
Upon request, Lessor shall provide Lessee with the methods of computation used in determining any sum that may be due and payable by 
Lessee under this Section 18.  

18.3 Lessee shall not be obligated to pay any sums required under this Section 18 in the event that lack of entitlement to, or loss, recapture or 
disallowance of any ACRS Deductions results from one or more of the following events: (i) a disqualifying disposition due to the sale of the 
Equipment by Lessor when no Event of Default, as defined in Section 16 above, has occurred, (ii) a failure of Lessor or its Affiliated Group to 
timely claim any ACRS Deductions for the Equipment in its tax return, and/or (iii) the fact that Lessor or its Affiliated Group does not have, in 
any taxable year or years, sufficient taxable income or tax liability to realize the benefit of any ACRS Deductions that are otherwise allowable 
to Lessor or its Affiliated Group.  

18.4 The representations, obligations and indemnities of Lessee under this  
Section 18 shall continue in full force and effect, notwithstanding the expiration or other termination of this Lease Agreement.  

19. Assignment; Sublease.  

19.1 Lessor may sell, assign or otherwise transfer all or any part of its right, title and interest in and to the Equipment and/or this Lease 
Agreement to a third-party assignee, subject to the terms and conditions of this Lease Agreement including, but not limited to, the right to the 
quiet enjoyment of the Equipment by Lessee as set forth in Section 7.1 above. Such assignee shall assume all of the rights and obligations of 
Lessor under this Lease Agreement and shall relieve Lessor therefrom. Thereafter, all references to Lessor herein shall mean such assignee. 
Notwithstanding any such sale, assignment or transfer, the obligations hereunder shall remain absolute and unconditional as set forth in Section 
7.2 above.  
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19.2 Lessor may also pledge, mortgage or grant a security interest in the Equipment and assign this Lease Agreement as collateral. Each such 
pledgee, mortgagee, lienholder or assignee shall have any and all rights as may be assigned by Lessor but none of the obligations of Lessor 
hereunder. Any pledge, mortgage or grant of security interest in the Equipment or assignment of this Lease Agreement shall be subject to the 
terms and conditions hereof including, but not limited to, the right to the quiet enjoyment of the Equipment by Lessee as set forth in Section 7.1 
above. Lessor, by reason of such pledge, mortgage, grant of security interest or collateral assignment, shall not be relieved of any of its 
obligations hereunder which shall remain absolute and unconditional as set forth in Section 7.2 above. Upon the written request of Lessor, 
Lessee shall acknowledge such obligations to the pledgee, mortgagee, lienholder or assignee.  

19.3 LESSEE SHALL NOT SELL, TRANSFER, ASSIGN, SUBLEASE, CONVEY OR PLEDGE ANY OF ITS INTEREST IN THIS LEASE 
AGREEMENT OR ANY OF THE EQUIPMENT, WITHOUT THE PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT OF LESSOR. Any such sale, transfer, 
assignment, sublease, conveyance or pledge, whether by operation of law or otherwise, without the prior written consent of Lessor, shall be 
void.  

20. Optional Performance By Lessor. If an Event of Default, as defined in  
Section 16 above, occurs and is continuing, Lessor in its sole discretion may pay or perform such obligation in whole or in part, without 
thereby becoming obligated to pay or to perform the same on any other occasion or to pay any other obligation of Lessee. Any payment or 
performance by Lessor shall not be deemed to cure any Event of Default hereunder. Upon such payment or performance by Lessor, Lessee 
shall pay forthwith to Lessor the amount of such payment or an amount equal to all costs and expenses of such performance, as well as any 
delayed payment charges on such amounts as set forth in Section 15 above.  

21. Compliance and Approvals. Lessee warrants and agrees that this Lease Agreement and the performance by Lessee of all of its obligations 
hereunder have been duly authorized, do not and will not conflict with any provision of the charter or bylaws of Lessee or of any agreement, 
indenture, lease or other instrument to which Lessee is a party or by which Lessee or any of its property is or may be bound. Lessee warrants 
and agrees that this Lease Agreement does not and will not require any governmental authorization, approval, license or consent except those 
which have been duly obtained and will remain in effect during the entire Initial Term and any Extended Term.  

22. Miscellaneous.  

22.1 The section headings are inserted herein for convenience of reference and are not part of and shall not affect the meaning or interpretation 
of this Lease Agreement  

22.2 Any provision of this Lease Agreement which is unenforceable in whole or in part in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be 
ineffective only to the extent of such unenforceability without invalidating any remaining part or other provision hereof and shall not be 
affected in any manner by reason of such enforceability in any other jurisdiction. The validity and interpretation of this Lease Agreement and 
the rights and obligations of the parties hereto shall be governed in all respects by the laws of The Commonwealth of Massachusetts without 
giving effect to the conflicts of laws provisions thereof.  

22.3 This Lease Agreement, including all Equipment Schedules and Certificates of Acceptance, constitutes the entire agreement between 
Lessor and Lessee. Lessor and Lessee agree that this Lease Agreement shall not be amended, altered or changed except by a written agreement 
signed by the parties hereto. LESSEE ACKNOWLEDGES THAT THERE HAVE BEEN NO REPRESENTATIONS, EXPRESS OR 
IMPLIED, BY LESSOR OTHER THAN AS SET FORTH HEREIN AND LESSEE EXPRESSLY CONFIRMS THAT IT HAS NOT RELIED 
UPON ANY REPRESENTATIONS BY LESSOR, EXCEPT THOSE SET FORTH HEREIN, AS A BASIS FOR ENTERING INTO THIS 
LEASE AGREEMENT.  

22.4 Any notice required to be given by Lessee or Lessor hereunder shall be deemed adequately given if sent by registered or certified mail, 
return receipt requested, to the other party at their respective addresses stated herein or at such other place as either party may designate in 
writing to the other.  

22.5 Lessee agrees to execute and deliver such additional documents and to perform such further acts as may be reasonably requested by 
Lessor in order to carry out and effectuate the purposes of this Lease Agreement. Upon the written request of Lessor, Lessee further agrees to 
execute any instrument necessary for filing or recording this Lease Agreement or to confirm the ownership of the Equipment by Lessor. Lessor 
is hereby authorized to insert in any Equipment Schedule the serial numbers of the Equipment and other identifying marks or similar 
information and to sign, on behalf of Lessee, any Uniform Commercial Code financing statements.  
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22.6 This Lease Agreement cannot be cancelled or terminated except as expressly provided herein.  

22.7 Whenever the context of this Lease Agreement requires, the singular includes the plural and the plural includes the singular. Whenever the 
word Lessor is used herein, it includes all assignees and successors in interest of Lessor. If more than one Lessee are named in this Lease 
Agreement, the liability of each shall be joint and several.  

22.8 All agreements, indemnities, representations and warranties of Lessee made herein and all rights and remedies of Lessor shall survive the 
expiration or other termination of this Lease Agreement, whether or not expressly provided herein.  

22.9 Any waiver of any power, right, remedy or privilege of Lessor hereunder shall not be effective unless in writing signed by Lessor.  

22.10 This Lease Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together 
shall constitute one and the same instrument.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Lessor and Lessee, each by its duly authorized officer or agent, have duly executed and delivered this Lease 
Agreement, which is intended to take effect as a sealed instrument, as of the day and year first written above.  

Kopin Corporation  
 

 

Accepted at Boston, Massachusetts  

BANCBOSTON LEASING INC.  

 
Title AVP  

FORM 1 (REV 9-87)  
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By  /s/  Paul J. Mitchell    12/31/96 
   ---------------------------------- 
 
Title          CFO 
               --- 

By  /s/Steve McCarthy 
   ------------------ 



RIDER No. l  

To  
MASTER LEASE  

AGREEMENT  

This Rider No. 1 (the "Rider") is entered into between BancBoston Leasing Inc. ("Lessor") and Kopin Corporation ("Lessee"), and is 
contemporaneous with and amends the Master Lease Agreement dated as of December 23, 1996 (the "Lease  

Agreement") between Lessor and Lessee. It is the intention of Lessor and Lessee that, upon execution, this Rider shall constitute a part of the 
Lease Agreement.  

IN CONSIDERATION OF the mutual covenants and promises as hereinafter set forth, Lessor and Lessee hereby agree as follows:  

1. All capitalized terms used in this Rider shall, unless otherwise indicated, have the definitions set forth in the Lease Agreement.  

 

12(g) and 12(h) of that certain Letter Agreement dated as of January 23, 1996, and as it may be further amended or restated (the "Loan 
Agreement") by and between Lessee and The First National Bank of Boston, are hereby incorporated by reference, as amended from time to 
time, as if the same had been set forth herein in full. Notwithstanding the foregoing, all such terms, covenants and agreements shall survive the 
expiration or other termination of the Loan Agreement. For purposes of this Section 14A.1, "Borrower" shall mean "Lessee"; "Bank" shall 
mean "Lessor"; and the "Agreement" shall mean the "Lease Agreement." All other terms incorporated pursuant to this Section 14A.1 and not 
otherwise defined shall have the meanings set forth in the Loan Agreement.  

14A.2 In the event the Loan Agreement has expired or has been terminated prior to the expiration or other termination of the Lease Agreement, 
Lessee agrees to continue to provide to Lessor concurrently with the annual financial statements required pursuant to Section 14 above, a 
certificate of compliance substantially in the form required pursuant to the Loan Agreement as it pertains to the covenants incorporated 
pursuant to Section 14A.1 above."  

The terms and conditions of this Rider shall prevail where there may be conflicts or inconsistencies with the terms and conditions of the Lease 
Agreement.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Lessor and Lessee, by their duly authorized representatives, have executed and delivered this Rider which is 
intended to take effect as a sealed instrument as of the date of the Lease Agreement.  

KOPIN CORPORATION  

 

Accepted and Agreed to at Boston, Massachusetts  
BANCBOSTON LEASING INC.  

 

RG3644/12/14/96 1:12 PM  
kopin/rdrml.doc  
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2.      Insert the following as Section 14A of the Lease Agreement 
 
"14A.   Representations, Covenants and Agreements. 
 
14A.1   All of the terms, covenants and agreements set forth in Sections  

By: /s/   Paul J. Mitchell   12/31/96 
          --------------------------- 
 
Title:            CFO 
                 ---- 

By:  /s/  Steve McCarthy 
     ---  -------------- 
 
Title:    AVP 
     -------- 



[BancBoston Logo] BancBoston Leasing  

EXHIBIT A  

EQUIPMENT SCHEDULE NO. 1  

This Equipment Schedule No. 1 is hereby made a part of the MASTER LEASE  

AGREEMENT dated as of December 23 19 96 between BancBoston Leasing Inc., as lessor, and Kopin Corporation, as Lessee.  

1. EQUIPMENT DESCRIPTION (including quantity, model/feature, identification and/or serial number):  

(1) MOVPE System AIX 2400 consisting of (1) Main Reactor Unit AIX 2400, (1) Gas Handling System, and (1) Computer Control System  

 
Taunton Bristol Massachusetts 02780  

City County State Zip Code  
 

 

FORM 1A, 2A (REV 9-87)  
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2. ACQUISITION COST:    $ 1,200,000.00 
                    ------------------ 
 
3. LEASE TERM:         42 months 
              ------------------ 
 
4. MONTHLY RENT:       $31,032.00   [x] in advance/ [ ] in arrears  
                -------------------- 
 
5. RECOVERY PERIOD:   5 YEARS 
                   ---------- 
 
6. INSTALLATION SITE:     695 Myles Standish Boulev ard 
                     ------------------------------ --- 
                     Address 

LESSOR:                                LESSEE: 
 
BancBoston Leasing Inc.                Kopin Corporation 
 
By: /s/ Steve McCarthy                 By: /s/  Paul J. Mitchell  12/31/96 
   -------------------                    -------------------------------- 
 
Title:      AVP                        Title:      CFO 
      ---------                              ---------- 



RIDER NO. 1  
TO  

EQUIPMENT SCHEDULE NO. 1  

TO  
MASTER LEASE AGREEMENT  

This Rider No. 1 (the "Rider") is entered into between BancBoston Leasing Inc. ("Lessor") and Kopin Corporation ("Lessee"), and is 
contemporaneous with and amends Equipment Schedule No. 1 (the "Equipment Schedule") to that certain Master Lease Agreement dated as of 
December 23,1996, including any riders thereto (together, the "Lease Agreement") by and between Lessor and Lessee. It is the intention of 
Lessor and Lessee that, upon execution, this Rider shall constitute a part of the Lease Agreement as it applies to the Equipment Schedule.  

IN CONSIDERATION OF the mutual covenants and promises as hereinafter set forth, Lessor and Lessee hereby agree as follows:  

1. All capitalized terms used herein shall have the meanings assigned to them in the Lease Agreement. The terms of the Rider shall apply only 
to the Equipment set forth on the Equipment Schedule.  

2. Replace Section 12 of the Lease Agreement with the following:  

"12. Surrender to Lessor. Immediately upon the expiration of the Initial Term or any Extended Term or any other termination of this Lease 
Agreement, Lessee shall surrender the Equipment to Lessor in good repair and working order, reasonable wear and tear accepted with all 
engineering and safety changes prescribed by the manufacturer or maintenance organization incorporated therein, by assembling and delivering 
the Equipment, ready for shipment, to a place or carrier, as Lessor may designate, within the continental United States. Lessee shall, prior to 
such surrender, arrange and pay for any repairs and changes as are necessary for the manufacturer or maintenance organization to accept the 
Equipment under contract maintenance at its then standard rates. All costs of removal, assembly, packing and delivery of such Equipment to 
the place designated by the Lessor shall be borne by Lessee.  

12.1 The Lessee agrees to either buy or return all, but not less than all of the Equipment. Immediately upon the expiration of the Initial Term or 
any Extended Term or at any other termination of this Lease Agreement, Lessee shall surrender the Equipment to Lessor in good repair and 
working order, reasonable wear and tear accepted with all engineering and safety changes prescribed by the manufacturer or maintenance 
organization incorporated therein, by assembling and delivering the Equipment, ready for shipment, to a place or carrier, as Lessor may 
designate, within the continental United States. Lessee shall, prior to such surrender, arrange and pay for any repairs and changes as are 
necessary for the manufacturer or maintenance organization to accept the Equipment under contract maintenance at its standard rates. All costs 
of removal, assembly, packing and delivery of such Equipment to the place designated by the Lessor shall be borne by Lessee.  

12.2 The Equipment shall be complete with all parts and pieces, and all operator's maintenance and service manuals and historical records, 
capable of being immediately assembled and operated by a third party without further repair, replacement, alteration or improvement, for its 
originally intended purpose and in compliance with all current laws, ordinances and industry standards including but not limited to the EPA, 
FDA and OSHA."  

3. At the end of Section 22 of the Lease Agreement, add the following:  

"23. Early Termination and Equipment Purchase. On the third anniversary of the Rent Start Date applicable to this Equipment Schedule (the 
"Termination Date"), Lessee shall have the option to terminate the Lease Agreement in order to purchase all Equipment set forth on the 
Equipment Schedule provided that (i) Lessee shall have given Lessor sixty (60) days prior written notice of its intention to terminate the Lease 
Agreement and to purchase the Equipment, and  
(ii) no Event of Default (or event which upon the passing of time or the giving of notice, or both, would constitute an Event of Default) has 
occurred and is continuing. On or prior to the Termination Date, Lessee shall pay to Lessor the anticipated fair market value of the Equipment 
on the Termination Date which Lessor and Lessee agree shall be equal to twenty five and thirty five hundredths percent (25.35%) of the 
Acquisition Cost applicable to the Equipment (the "Termination Purchase Price"), in addition to all amounts of Monthly Rent due and owing 
including, without limitation, Monthly rent due and owing on the Date of  
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Termination. Upon payment of the Termination Purchase Price, the Lease Agreement shall be terminated with respect to the Equipment 
provided, however, that any liability or obligation of Lessee under the Lease Agreement with respect to such Equipment shall survive for 
events occurring during the Lease Term. Lessor shall thereupon transfer title to the Equipment to Lessee "AS IS", "WITH ALL FAULTS", and 
WITH NO WARRANTIES WHATSOEVER, EITHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY 
WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR USE OR FOR PARTICULAR PURPOSE."  

The terms and condition of this Rider shall prevail where there may be conflicts or inconsistencies with the terms and conditions of the Lease 
Agreement as its applies to the Equipment Schedule.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Lessor and Lessee, by their duly authorized representatives, have executed and delivered this Rider which is 
intended to take effect as a sealed instrument as of the date of the Lease Agreement.  

KOPIN CORPORATION  

 

Accepted and Agreed to at Boston, Massachusetts  

BANCBOSTON LEASING INC.  

 

RG3644/12/27/96 5:05 PM  
kopin/earlypur.doc  
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By:/s/  Paul J. Mitchell    12/31/96 
   --------------------------------- 
 
Title:       CFO 
      ---------- 

By: /s/ Steve McCarthy 
   ------------------- 
 
Title:      AVP 
     ---------- 



[BancBoston Logo] BancBoston Leasing  

EXHIBIT B  

CERTIFICATE OF ACCEPTANCE  

To: BancBoston Leasing Inc.  
100 Federal Street  
Boston, Massachusetts 02110  

Pursuant to the MASTER LEASE AGREEMENT dated as of December 23, 1996 (the "Lease Agreement") between BancBoston Leasing 
Inc. (the "Lessor") and the undersigned (the "Lessee"), the equipment described on Equipment Schedule No 1  

(the "Equipment") has been delivered to the location set forth in such Equipment Schedule, has been tested and inspected by Lessee, and has 
been found to be in good repair and working order.  
 
The Equipment has been accepted and placed in service by Lessee for all purposes under the Lease Agreement on December 31 , 1996 (the 
"Commencement Date").  

Lessee represents, warrants and covenants that: (a) as of the Commencement Date, all representations set forth in Section 18 of the Lease 
Agreement apply to the Equipment accepted hereunder; (b) in the event of a sale and leaseback of the Equipment, neither Lessee nor any 
member of its Affiliated Group as defined in the Lease Agreement has made or will make any election under the Internal Revenue Code of 
1986, as amended (the "Code") affecting the depreciation of the Equipment or of any class of property which would apply to the Equipment 
after the sale of the Equipment to Lessor by Lessee; (c) in the event of a sale and leaseback of the Equipment, the Equipment will not constitute 
property placed in service in a churning transaction within the meaning of Section 168(f)(5) of the Code; (d) neither Lessee nor any member of 
its Affiliated Group filing a consolidated Federal income tax return will take any deduction for recovery of the cost of the Equipment; (e) the 
Equipment has been placed in service under the Lease Agreement on the Commencement Date; and (f) neither Lessee nor any member of its 
Affiliated Group has any investment in the cost of the Equipment.  

The execution of this Certificate of Acceptance by Lessee shall not be construed, in any way, to release or to waive the obligations of any 
manufacturer or supplier for any warranties with respect to the Equipment.  

This Certificate of Acceptance applicable to Equipment Schedule No. 1 shall  

constitute a part of the Lease Agreement.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF Lessee, by its duly authorized officer or agent, has executed and delivered this Certificate of Acceptance which is 
intended to take effect as a sealed instrument.  

Kopin Corporation  
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By:  /s/ Paul J. Mitchell     12/31/96 
   ----------------------------------- 
 
Title:       CFO 
      ---------- 



EXHIBIT 11  
KOPIN CORPORATION  

STATEMENT RE COMPUTATION OF PER SHARE LOSS  

 

                                                         1996             1995              1994 
                                                         ----             ----              ---- 
Net loss                                             $(21,596,364)     $(8,990,999)      $(6,694,257)  
Calculation of shares outstanding: 
  Weighted average common shares outstanding 
    used in calculating net loss per share in 
    accordance with generally accepted accounting 
    principles                                         10,921,138        9,461,897         9,267,315 
Adjustments to reflect requirements of the SEC: 
  Effect of SAB 83                                              -                -                 - 
  Effect of assumed conversion of convertible 
    preferred shares from date of issuance                      -                -                 - 
  Adjusted shares outstanding                          10,921,138        9,461,897         9,267,315 
Net loss per share                                         $(1.98)           $(.95)            $(.72)  
 
 
 



EXHIBIT 21.1  

KOPIN CORPORATION  

SUBSIDIARIES OF KOPIN CORPORATION  

The Registrant has the following wholly owned ("W") and majority owned subsidiaries ("M"):  

 

     Subsidiary            Type     State of Incorp oration     Fiscal Year End  
     ----------            ----     --------------- -------     ---------------  
 
VS Corporation              W             Delaware               December 31 
 
 
Forte Technologies, Inc.    M             New York               December 31 



EXHIBIT 23.1  

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' CONSENT  

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statements Nos. 33- 71744, 33-88812, and 33-87308 of Kopin Corporation and 
Subsidiaries on Forms S-8 of our reports dated February 10, 1997 (March 7, 1997 as to Note 13), appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-
K of Kopin Corporation for the year ended December 31, 1996.  

 

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP 
 
Deloitte & Touche LLP 
Boston, Massachusetts 
 
 
March 28, 1997 



 
 

 

End of Filing  
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ARTICLE 5 

PERIOD TYPE YEAR 
FISCAL YEAR END DEC 31 1996 
PERIOD START JAN 01 1996 
PERIOD END DEC 31 1996 
CASH 16,511,291 
SECURITIES 10,560,815 
RECEIVABLES 6,583,938 
ALLOWANCES 0 
INVENTORY 3,073,643 
CURRENT ASSETS 37,987,468 
PP&E 22,633,373 
DEPRECIATION 11,731,828 
TOTAL ASSETS 53,745,554 
CURRENT LIABILITIES 10,300,478 
BONDS 2,793,061 
PREFERRED MANDATORY 0 
PREFERRED 0 
COMMON 109,314 
OTHER SE 40,161,535 
TOTAL LIABILITY AND EQUITY 53,745,554 
SALES 11,727,081 
TOTAL REVENUES 20,031,895 
CGS 9,488,702 
TOTAL COSTS 25,955,800 
OTHER EXPENSES 8,890,412 1 

LOSS PROVISION 72,000 
INTEREST EXPENSE 337,418 
INCOME PRETAX (21,596,364) 
INCOME TAX 0 
INCOME CONTINUING (21,596,364) 
DISCONTINUED 0 
EXTRAORDINARY 0 
CHANGES 0 
NET INCOME (21,596,364) 
EPS PRIMARY (1.98) 
EPS DILUTED (1.98) 

1 
Includes non recurring impairment charge of $4,990,412 associated with initial adoption of SFAS No. 121, expensing of purchased 
technology, and write-off of certain deferred expenses, and $3,900,000 of a write-down of subsidiary assets to net realizable value. 


